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Overview

Who we are
Abbey Protection plc is a specialist insurance and consultancy Group focused on the delivery of legal
and taxation related professional fees, insurance products and services to UK small to medium sized
enterprises (“SME’s”). Abbey Protection plc is the ultimate holding company for:

•

Abbey Protection Group Limited, which is the Group’s intermediary and consultancy arm.
It is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority (firm ref: 308829).

•

Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited, the Group’s reinsurance subsidiary. It is authorised
and regulated by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission (registration no: 406583).

Group structure
Abbey Protection plc

Abbey Protection Group Ltd

Ibex Reinsurance
Co Ltd

Abbey Legal Protection
(ALP)

Guernsey

Abbey Legal Services
(ALS)

After the Event Services
(ATE)

Abbey Tax Protection
(ATP)

Accountax
(ACX)

Abbey HR
(AHR)

15 staff
Croydon

54 staff
Rugby

18 staff
Milton Keynes

6 staff
Rugby

110 staff
London & Croydon

REINSURANCE

LEGAL

TAX

COMPLIANCE
CONSULTING

Finance, IT, HR and compliance services are provided centrally by 17 staff based in London and Croydon.
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Overview

Group structure (continued)
The Group has 220 staff working from four locations and in 2008, gross premiums (produced
for underwriters) and other income totalling £36.5m.
It distributes its services via a wide network of insurance brokers, insurance companies,
accountants, solicitors and affinity groups and operates under the following divisions:
Abbey Legal Protection (ALP)
ALP, based in the City of London, sells and underwrites commercial legal expenses insurance
that reimburses the legal fees incurred by businesses, typically SME’s, in the event of legal
actions, such as employment and contract disputes. ALP has built up an extensive and diverse
distribution network of insurance brokers, insurance companies and over 150 affinity groups.
Abbey Legal Services (ALS)
ALS, based in Croydon, provides legal advice and related employment services to ALP clients
as part of their insurance policies, together with consultancy services direct to clients. ALS
services 300,000 calls a year.
Abbey Tax Protection (ATP)
ATP, based in Rugby, sells and underwrites professional fees insurance which reimburses fees
incurred by taxpayers when HMRC undertakes an investigation into taxpayer’s taxation, VAT or
PAYE return. ATP distributes its products through a network of accountants.
Abbey HR (AHR)
AHR, based in Rugby, provides HR consultancy services direct to businesses. AHR was
established in January 2007 to leverage off the Group’s existing specialist skills in employment
law and to penetrate further the independent compliance services market.
After the Event Services (ATE)
ATE Services, based in Croydon, manages the Law Society’s only personal injury compensation
scheme, Accident Line and its related ATE insurance policies, and supplies commercial ATE
insurance. It also manages the run-off of various defunct claims management schemes on
behalf of insurers.
Accountax (ACX)
ACX, based in Milton Keynes, supplies advice and consultancy services to businesses involved
in IR35 and tax status disputes with HRMC, particularly specialising in Personal Service
companies. It also provides telemarketing services for its accounting franchisees.
Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited (Ibex)
Ibex, based in Guernsey, is the Group’s reinsurance vehicle. In order to provide a rated
insurance counterparty, the Group places its insurance policies through its insurance partner,
Brit Insurance. With the exception of its ATE policies, and certain other specialist risks, Ibex
reinsures Brit on a quota share basis.
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Financial highlights
Abbey Protection plc is committed to high service levels and is the leading supplier
of legal expenses and taxation related professional fees insurance to UK SME’s.
Our objective is to achieve strong, sustainable earnings and progressive dividend
yield through a strategy of driving organic growth, developing opportunities for
the Group’s consultancy divisions and making selective and complementary
acquisitions.

									

Highlights

13% growth in pre-tax profits to £8.3m
Revenue up 11% to £30.3m
13% increase in EBITDA* to £8.7m
Improving claims ratios of 63.9% (2007: 69.7%)
Cash and financial investment balances of £33.6m
Shareholders’ funds up 32% to £19.4m
Outlook stable, with strong demand for services and non-cyclical
underwriting results, balancing declining investment income

Final dividend of 2.0p, making total dividend for the year of 3.5p per share

Financial results 2008
Revenue
Profit before tax
EBITDA*
Profit after tax
Basic earnings per share

2008

2007

£30.3m
£8.3m
£8.7m
£6.0m
6.09p

£27.3m
£7.3m
£7.7m
£5.3m
5.86p

*Earnings before interest payable, taxation, depreciation and amortisation charges.
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Chairman’s statement

Tony Shearer
Chairman

Our accounts show a profit before tax of £8.3 million (2007: £7.3 million) and post tax
profits of £6.0 million (2007: £5.3 million). These results are very satisfactory, particularly
since 2008 has been such a volatile year for financial markets.
Our core operating divisions turned in strong performances and the excellent results of our insurance risk vehicle,
Ibex, demonstrated again the non-cyclical nature of our insurance business. Our conservative investment
philosophy bore fruit, not only in terms of capital preservation, but also better than expected investment income
returns (although such levels of return are not expected in 2009).
As a result of the poor economic situation, many of our clients (and potential clients) have had a torrid time. We
do not expect that 2009 will be any easier for them, and once the present ‘crisis’ and recession have ended (as
they surely will at some point) we see difficult trading conditions continuing as inflation takes over.
Although not immune to the current pressures, we believe that our business is well placed, with demand for our
services increasing as small and medium sized businesses appreciate the benefits of insuring their risks in areas
such as tax investigations and legal disputes. As they come under increasing pressure to cut overheads, they will
also see the value of the consulting services and specialist advice we offer in law, taxation and human resources.
We do not see our business so much as countercyclical as non-cyclical.
We consider that our strong balance sheet means that we are also in a good position to take advantage of
acquisitions as they become available. In October 2008, we purchased Accountax, a business that we had
known and admired for some time. Although the impact of the acquisition on earnings in 2008 has been limited,
we expect a positive and meaningful contribution to revenue and earnings for 2009. As the business becomes
fully integrated into our Group, we anticipate a number of revenue synergies appearing.
I would also like to thank John Acornley, who left the Board in November last year, having joined us just before the
successful float on AIM in November 2007, for all his efforts and support.
Colin Davison, Chris Ward and their management team are very knowledgeable about the sectors in which we
operate. With our strong balance sheet, we are ready to take advantage of opportunities as they appear in
2009.
The Board looks to the coming year with enthusiasm.

Tony Shearer
25 March 2009

Business review
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Chief Executive’s statement

Colin Davison
Chief Executive

In our first full year as a listed company, I am delighted to report that we have consolidated
our position as the UK’s leading supplier of legal and professional fees insurance
protection to SME businesses.
Our revenue has increased 11% to £30.3m and we have produced record pre-tax profits of £8.3m – testimony
yet again to the professionalism and dedication of our staff which has enabled us to consistently deliver a high
quality service.
Of particular note this year was the acquisition of Accountax in October, the first acquisition the Group has made in
over fifteen years of trading. I have been especially pleased with how smoothly they have been integrated into the
Group and over the coming years we can look forward to some significant revenue opportunities through organic
growth and through cross selling with our existing divisions.

Key Milestones in the history of Abbey Protection plc
•

The Group was founded in 1992 with the formation of Abbey Legal

•

In 1995 the Group launched an after the event policy for the Law Society’s Accident Line scheme, with a
re-launch in 2000 to coincide with the changes in the law in personal injury litigation

•

In 1996, the Group entered the market for tax related professional fee protection schemes, through the
formation of Abbey Tax

•

To provide legal advice to Abbey Legal clients, the Group set up ALS in 1998, subsequently developing
litigation, representation and consultancy services

•

The Group was selected in 2002 to assist underwriters with management of the run-off of claims arising
under defunct claims management insurance schemes, such as Claims Direct and The Accident Group

•

In 2003, the Group established Ibex as its captive reinsurance company in Guernsey, in order to benefit
from the underwriting profits being generated by Abbey Legal and Abbey Tax

•

In January 2007, the Group formed Abbey HR, marketing compliance consultancy services direct to
business customers

•

In November 2007, the Group floated on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange

•

In October 2008, the Group made its first acquisition, Accountax
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Chief Executive’s statement (continued)
Review of 2008

Group Revenue - 2008
£30.3m

Ibex

Abbey Legal

Accountax

After The Event

Abbey HR

Abbey Tax

A highly encouraging year in which our core trading divisions Abbey Legal and Abbey Tax (ALP/ALS and ATP)
consolidated their market leading positions – and our reinsurance vehicle, Ibex, posted excellent results.
With an eye to the future, I was also pleased with the growth of Abbey HR (AHR) and the development of new
products in our After The Event (ATE) division.
2008 was an excellent year for Abbey Tax which saw revenue increase by 14% to £5.5m and profit contribution
increase by over 16%. This growth is as a direct result of the investment that the division made in 2007 in
strengthening its sales and consultancy teams. Indeed, consultancy income grew by 24% and the renewal
premium from our accountancy insurance schemes was slightly over 100%; in addition, new insurance schemes
business was strong and in line with our budget.
After strong growth in 2007, Abbey Legal had a year of consolidation, with revenue growing nearly 8% to over
£8.6m despite the loss of some accounts through aggressive pricing competition; profit contribution held steady.
Importantly, the division was able to secure the long term future of a number of its key accounts on long term
(three to five years) arrangements and new business sales were at their highest levels for a number of years. The
non-insurance related services again showed above average levels of growth.
Our reinsurance company, Ibex had a very good year with profits of £4.5m (2007: £3.7m) including record
investment income returns of £1.4m (2007: £1.2m). The claims ratio of 63.9% (2007: 69.7%) reflected the noncyclical nature of our business and our integrated approach to risk management and control.
In the After The Event division, revenue reduced in line with expectations as income from the run-off services
contracted. The division, however, still produced a valuable contribution to Group profits. The re-launch of the
Accident Line insurance product showed signs of reversing recent trends of declining sales and the launch of a
new commercial ATE service has drawn an encouraging level of enquiries and early policy sales.
In their second full year of trading Abbey HR doubled their client bank despite facing aggressive pricing in the
competitive business to business compliance consultancy market. The division has proven, however, that the
direct business model works for its products and it has taken steps to increase lead generation in order to drive
through the critical mass to make a profit contribution to the Group in 2009.
Finally, I was delighted that we were able to conclude the acquisition of Accountax in October 2008. Accountax’s
expertise in tax litigation strengthens the Group’s tax consultancy platform and enhances the products and
services we are able to provide to and through our large accountancy client base. In addition, Accountax’s team
of tele-marketers provides us with the basis for selling other Group services to intermediaries and directly to
businesses.

AL P
AT P
AHR
AT E
AC X
Ib e x
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Chief Executive’s statement (continued)
Group Profit by Division - 2008
£8.3m

A LPAbbey
/A LS

Legal

AAbbey
TP

Tax

Dividend

AAbbey
HR

HR

A After
TE

The
Event

A CX

*

Accountax

Ibex
Ibex

Subject to shareholder approval, a final dividend of 2.0p per share is proposed, which results in a full year dividend
of 3.5p per share. This is our first full year of trading as a listed company and the proposed dividend is in line with
the indications we gave when we went to market at IPO in November 2007.
The Board’s approach is to maintain a sustainable and progressive dividend policy.
Current Trading and Outlook
Market Profile

•

Abbey Protection plc operates in the independent compliance services market, which comprises
organisations offering protection against predominately employment, tax and health & safety related
risks, by offering advice/consultancy services backed by fees insurance or indemnity cover

•

The independent compliance services market is a high growth one and is expected to grow to
£500m by 2010

•

The increasing burden of legislation and red tape on businesses (the Government values this at
£11bn), together with an increasingly litigious society, ensures an expanding latent demand for
the Group’s products

•

The Legal Services Act 2007 has signalled the Government’s intention to make the market for
the delivery of legal services less restrictive, enabling new commercial entrants to carry out work
currently restricted to businesses owned by solicitors

2009 will be a challenging trading environment for all businesses and we will certainly not be immune.
All pointers show that the numbers of businesses will contract during 2009 and this must have an influence on our
underlying revenues – as will lower interest rates, which will impact on our investment earnings.
Counter balancing this will be, arguably, an increased demand from existing and new clients for our products and
services, notably in the fields of employment, HR, compliance and protection from the demands of the Revenue.
In addition, the benefits of extending our reinsurance contract with Brit Insurance will start to flow through in a
meaningful way for the first time in 2009.

*Accountax included from 21 October 2008.
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Chief Executive’s statement (continued)
In 2008 we conducted a strategic review of our business and we concluded that our historically strong organic
growth and prudent approach has given us an ideal platform for development in these uncertain times. Our strong
balance sheet, with no borrowings, and our annuity model gives us considerable financial security to enable us to
move quickly if there are opportunities for further acquisitions.
We believe that any acquisition should be complementary to one or all of our existing divisions. Our strategic
review has also revealed significant opportunities for cross selling within the Group and we have taken action
to identify these. Indeed, it is pleasing to note that we have already driven cross selling opportunities out of the
Accountax acquisition. We have found that, where clients are pleased with the existing services provided by the
Group, they are very open to additional products being offered.
In addition to these goals we shall, of course, continue with the development of new services and products; for
example, tax planning and commercial After The Event insurance, together with a capital allowances service have
all proved successful in the last couple of years. In particular, over the next few years we will devote resources to
focus on the significant opportunities offered by the Legal Services Act 2007.
Key Strengths
•

Existing market leader – in the supply of legal protection and tax related professional fee protection insurance
to SME’s, a specialist sector where market leaders require a complementary advisory service which can be
difficult to build or outsource

•

Consistent record of profitability – operates in a non-cyclical sector of the insurance market and has
historically had a stable and low claims ratio

•

Risk Control – underwriting risk of Ibex is mitigated by the fact that the Group provides its own advisory and
representative services to its insurance clients, which assists in the control of costs and can help to avoid
claims arising

•

Diversified – Abbey Protection comprises an insurance intermediary, an underwriting business and
consultancy practices covering several product areas

•

Integrated – Abbey Protection’s trading divisions work together with the aim of capturing multiple revenue
streams for a single product sale or distribution channel

•

Management – experienced, stable and committed management team who have delivered Abbey
Protection’s strong organic growth

•

Staff – experienced and appropriately trained staff working together in Abbey Protection’s trading divisions
help facilitate a quick and cost effective understanding of the issues concerned

•

Distribution – long standing relationships with a wide network of distribution channels including insurance
brokers, insurance companies, accountants and affinity groups

I make no apologies for repeating our key strengths from last year’s report – it is upon these sound principles which
we have built our business and are the reasons why we can look forward to a challenging year with confidence.
Directors
My thanks are due to all my fellow Board directors for their input and guidance throughout the year, with a special
acknowledgment to my colleagues on our trading Company Board.
Staff and shareholders
Finally, a special thank you to all our staff, whose hard work and loyalty have enabled us to achieve our goals over
the past years; I am sure that these talented people will also help us achieve our strategic goals over the coming
months in spite of what appears to be a time of general economic downturn. Thank you, also, to our investors
for their support during the year.
Colin Davison
Chief Executive
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Financial review
As presented in note 5 to the financial statements, the Group has two principal segments, an insurance intermediation and
consultancy arm together with an underwriting arm. Within the insurance intermediation and consultancy arm, the business is
divisionalised. This review considers the financial development of the Group as a whole.

Revenue
Revenue before investment income for the year increased
relative to the prior year by £2.6m (2007: £2.2m) to £28.3m
(2007: £25.7m) representing growth of 10.1% (2007:
9.3%).

Total Rev enue
£33,000,000
£31,000,000

Investment income at £1.9m (2007: £1.6m) was up 19%
driven by increased cash and investment balances together
with higher yields. The majority of the year was a depositor’s
market caused by the general financial turmoil now referred
to as the “credit crunch” which manifested itself during the
latter part of 2007 and which has continued through 2008.

£29,000,000

However, this environment was partly offset by the rapid
reduction in Bank of England base rates from 5% at the end
of quarter three to 2% at the end of the year.

£17,000,000

£27,000,000
£25,000,000
£23,000,000
£21,000,000
£19,000,000
£15,000,000
2005

2006

2007

2008

Expenses & Claims
Operating and administration expenses increased by 12.5% (2007: 12%) to £13.2m (2007: £11.7m). However, as noted in
the Chief Executive’s report, the Company was admitted to trading on AIM on 27 November 2007. Accordingly, 2008 reflects
a full year of expenditure associated with this status (estimated at circa £390,000) whereas 2007 only included one month
of comparable expenditure. Similarly, share scheme incentives charged in the year were £155,000 (2007: £8,000). Allowing
for these items, the underlying increase in expenditure equated to circa 8.3% reflecting the increase in average headcount to
206 (2007: 196). Staff costs including associated expenses represent circa 74% (2007: 73%) of operating and administration
expenses. An analysis of average headcount by division is included in note 12 to the financial statements.
Claims incurred (including provision for claims Incurred But Not Reported “IBNR”) across all underwriting years represented
63.9% (2007: 69.74%) of net earned premiums. The underwriting business has seen rapid growth since the formation of Ibex
Reinsurance Limited, the Group’s Guernsey based reinsurance subsidiary, in 2003. A summary of the development of each
underwriting year is shown in the tables within note 4(i) to the financial statements.
Profit
Whilst reported profits before taxation from insurance intermediation and consultancy were only marginally ahead of 2007 at
£3.7m, allowing for the additional costs explained above, this was a satisfactory result. Reported profits from underwriting
activities were again strongly ahead at £4.6m (2007: £3.7m). Across the Group, profit after taxation increased by 13% to £6.0m
(2007: £5.3m).
Taxation
The effective rate of corporation tax was broadly consistent
with prior year at 26.9% (2007: 27.4%). The profits arising
in Ibex Reinsurance Limited are taxable on remittance to
the UK. Under HMRC rules, 90% of these profits must
be remitted to the UK within 18 months of the end of the
relevant financial year. Deferred tax is provided on profits
held in Guernsey pending their remittance to the UK.

Prof it af ter tax ation
£7,000,000
£6,000,000
£5,000,000
£4,000,000
£3,000,000
£2,000,000
£1,000,000
£0
2005

2006

2007

2008
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Financial review (continued)
Cash flow
Net cash from operating activities was again strong at £7.1m (2007: £7.8m). After the payment of dividends and the acquisition
of Accountax (see note 20 to the financial statements), cash and financial investment balances remained broadly level at
£33.6m (2007: £33.9m).
Balance sheet
During the year, the Company has remained debt free (redeeming a loan held by Accountax on acquisition). Whilst debt funding
remains an option, the Company has sufficient cash resources for its immediate needs.
Risk management
A comprehensive summary of the risks facing the business and how those risks are managed is disclosed within note 4 to the
financial statements.
Regulatory solvency requirements
Details of the regulatory solvency requirements associated with the Group’s activities are disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements. As at 31 December 2008 the Group had around six times the minimum required eligible assets available.
Treasury policy
The Company has adopted a prudent treasury policy for its cash and investments. Counterparty exposure is limited and
credit quality monitored to ensure a low risk of default. During the year, the average duration of the investment portfolio was
shortened in response to the perceived risks presented by the money markets.
A successful growth story
The table below demonstrates the growth and consistent profitability of the business over the last four years:

2005

2006

2007

2008

£21.787m

£24.568m

£27.349m

£30.251m

Profit before taxation

£6.530m

£6.716m

£7.339m

£8.267m

Profit after taxation

£4.556m

£4.887m

£5.327m

£6.040m

Incurred claims ratio

68.30%

67.90%

69.70%

63.92%

Cash & investments

£22.383m

£28.977m

£33.901m

£33.631m

Shareholders' funds

£7.165m

£12.001m

£14.661m

£19.368m

Revenue

Despite the economic backdrop, the business remains well placed to continue to deliver positive returns for shareholders and
to take advantage of opportunities as they present themselves.

Adrian Green
Group Finance Director

Management &
governance

Management and governance
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Board of Directors
Non-Executive Directors
Tony Shearer (Chairman)
Tony (60) is Chairman of the Company, he also chairs the Audit Committee and is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committees. He is Non-Executive Chairman of Uruguay Mineral Exploration Inc. (the AIM listed gold mine and exploration
company), of Yorkshire Investment Group Ltd, (the independent financial advisers), Caxton FX (the foreign exchange trader)
and of IMAS (Corporate Advisers in the Financial Services sector). He is also a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Audit Committee of AIM listed minerals trader Wogen plc, and a Non-Executive Director of Alba plc (the listed consumer
electronics group).
Tony has held main board executive positions in listed companies M&G Group (1988 to 1996) and Singer & Friedlander Group
(2003 to 2005, as Finance Director and Chief Executive). He has worked in investment management, banking, life assurance,
general insurance and Lloyd’s of London.
Tony is a chartered accountant, having spent over 20 years with Deloitte Haskins & Sells, of which 8 years were as a partner
specialising in financial services.
Paul Wilson
Paul Wilson (58) is a Non-Executive Director of Abbey Protection plc and chairs the Nomination and Remuneration Committees.
He also sits on the Audit Committee.
Paul is a Senior Advisor at Bain & Co and is also a Non-Executive Director at R J Kiln & Co Ltd and a Group Board Member
at Unigestion. He is also Chairman of Action Against Hunger, an international charity addressing nutrition and water issues in
crisis situations.
Paul has over twenty five years experience of the Financial Services industry and has been a leader of several professional
services businesses.
Executive Directors
Colin Davison (Chief Executive Officer)
Colin Davison (49) founded ATP in December 1996 as a sister company to ALP. Colin was Managing Director of ATP until
December 2004 when ATP became a trading division of Abbey Protection. In January 2004, Colin was appointed Chief
Executive Officer of Abbey Protection Group, following a management buy out of the majority shareholding in the Group.
Colin has overseen the growth of ATP to the £13 million gross premiums and other income business it is today and has been
responsible for the introduction of its new products. Colin also took the lead role in the acquisition of Accountax in October
2008.
Prior to joining ATP, Colin worked for the Inland Revenue for six years, then spent a further six years working for IRPC (now
CCH Fee Protection, a competitor fee protection provider).
Chris Ward (Group Managing Director)
Chris Ward (48) joined ALP in 1993 as Business Development Director. He became its Managing Director in 1996 and joined
the Group Board in 2002. Chris is responsible for all aspects of the Group’s legal business divisions with gross premiums
and other income in excess of £23 million and has overseen the development of the ALS and ATE divisions, as well as the
establishment of the Group’s captive re-insurer, Ibex.
Having worked in the insurance industry since 1979 Chris has had underwriting, sales and marketing responsibilities, largely
with the Prudential, where, prior to leaving in 1992, he was Casualty Account Manager for the London Market with responsibility
for the professional indemnity and contingency accounts.
Adrian Green (Group Finance Director, Company Secretary)
Adrian Green (44) joined Abbey Protection Group at the end of 2006. He has experience in general insurance covering
both underwriting and broking. Following seven years with Fortis Insurance in various positions, he joined Folgate Insurance
Company Ltd in 1997 and was promoted to Finance Director in 2002. Following the sale of Folgate Insurance Company Ltd
to Towergate Group, he managed the run-off of the Folgate business before being appointed Regional Finance Director for
Towergate.
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Senior Management
Senior Management
The following persons are not directors of the Company but are directors of one or more of the Company’s subsidiaries and
are considered by the directors of Abbey Protection plc to be part of the Group’s senior management team.
Liz Grace (Operations Director – Abbey Tax Protection)
Liz Grace (56) joined Colin Davison in setting up ATP in December 1996, as underwriting manager.
Liz became Operations Director of ATP in 2001 with responsibility for the day to day running of ATP. Liz became a director of
Abbey Protection Group in January 2004.
Prior to joining ATP, Liz worked for 9 years for IRPC (now CCH Fee Protection), a competitor tax fee protection provider, and
prior to that for 5 years at the Inland Revenue.
Richard Candy (Underwriting Director – Abbey Legal Protection)
Richard Candy (39), originally joined ALP in 1994. By 1997 he was the Underwriting Manager responsible for the Company’s
insurance market relationships. Richard left ALP in 2002 to join newly established Professional Risks Insurance where he was
Legal Expenses Underwriter. He rejoined ALP in 2003 to undertake the creation and management of Ibex, and is responsible
for the underwriting profitability of the Abbey Protection Group account and setting the ALP underwriting terms.
Murray Fairclough (Director – Abbey Legal Protection)
Murray Fairclough (45) joined ALP in 1998 to establish the Group’s legal services centre. He is a graduate of Nottingham Law
School and of the University of Leicester where he received a Masters degree in Employment Law and Industrial Relations. In
1998, he was awarded a Doctorate by the University of Leicester for his research into Civil Legal Aid and the Legal Expenses
Insurance Industry.
Previously, he was head of employment law for the Legal Protection Group Limited before becoming senior Employment Law
Associate with law firm Sonnenshein. He is a published author and has contributed many articles and commentary to the
national press, radio and trade journals. Murray is a practising barrister and a member of the Employment Law Bar Association
and the Employment Lawyer’s Association.
David Hartley (Director – After The Event Services)
David Hartley (55) is a solicitor. He joined ALP in 2001 to run Accident Line, the only personal injury referral and insurance
service endorsed by the Law Society. He also leads the management of the run-off of a number of after the event insurance
schemes on behalf of various underwriters and the supply of commercial ATE insurance.
David has previously worked at the Law Society as a senior policy official with particular emphasis on the funding of legal
services. Prior to that he was a solicitor in private practice, running his own firm for ten years. David was appointed in 2003 as
a deputy district judge to sit in civil courts.
Simon Howes (Managing Director – Abbey HR)
Simon Howes (47) joined the Group in December 2006 to establish Abbey HR. He became involved in Regulatory Consulting
in 1992, becoming Business Director (non-statutory) of IRPC Taxation Services (now CCH Fee Protection), a competitor tax
fee protection provider.
In 2002 Simon assumed responsibility for the integration of LPMS Ltd, an Employment Law and Health & Safety consultancy
business which has been acquired by Wolters Kluwer (‘WK’). In 2003 Simon was appointed Business Director (non-statutory)
of Professional Personnel Consultants Ltd, an employment consultancy also acquired by WK.
Toby Clarke (Group IT Director)
Toby Clarke (38), joined the Group in early 2002, having been the European IT Director (non-statutory) for an international
internet research company, Jupiter MMXI (Europe). Prior to joining Jupiter he spent 6 years broking in the Lloyd’s market with
Aldgate Group Brokers before transitioning into IT and working for IBM Global Services.
At Abbey Protection Toby has been responsible for the IT infrastructure that supports business needs. Toby is also responsible
for the in-house development of business applications that service the Group and respective clients.
Matt Boddington (Director – Accountax)
Matt Boddington (38) joined as a director following the acquisition of Accountax in October 2008.
Matt joined Accountax as a tax consultant in 2001, and was made director in February 2004. Matt is a graduate of Buckingham
Law School, and in addition to managing the tax and employment divisions he maintains a hands-on technical and advocacy
role in the tax and employment tribunals.
Prior to joining Accountax Matt worked for 10 years in the Inland Revenue.
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Directors’ report
The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Abbey Protection plc for the year ended
31 December 2008.

Formation and acquisition of Abbey Protection Group Limited by Abbey Protection plc
Abbey Protection Limited was incorporated on 24 August 2007 as a shell company to facilitate the acquisition and listing on
the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange (AIM) of Abbey Protection Group Limited. On 14 November
2007, Abbey Protection Limited was re-registered as Abbey Protection plc and on 19 November 2007 acquired Abbey
Protection Group Limited under a share for share exchange agreement. On 29 November 2007, Abbey Protection plc was
listed on AIM.
The transaction was accounted for in accordance with the reverse acquisition provisions of IFRS 3 Business Combinations.
Further details on the accounting treatment of the business combination are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are the intermediation and underwriting of legal and professional expenses insurance and
“after the event” personal injury insurance together with legal and human resources consultancy.
Full details of the Group’s activities, products and markets are set out within the business review on pages 8 to 13.
During the period, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Accountax Consulting Ltd and Accountax Law Ltd.
Details of the acquisition are disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.
Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company and its subsidiary undertakings and how they are controlled are described
in note 4 to the financial statements.
The Group has offices in London, Croydon, Rugby and Milton Keynes.

Share capital
Prior to the execution of the share for share agreement facilitating the acquisition of Abbey Protection Group Limited by Abbey
Protection plc, a number of changes were made to the share capital of the Company. These changes are disclosed in note 30
to the financial statements.
Of the 99,994,773 shares in issue at the year end, 763,398 are held by the Trustee of the Abbey Protection Group Limited
Employee Benefit Trust for the benefit of the Company and employees.

Restriction on transfer of the Company’s shares
Following admission, the directors and certain other management shareholders agreed with the Company, its Broker (Numis)
and its Nominated Advisor (PwC) not to sell any Ordinary Shares until the announcement of the Company’s results for the
year ended 31 December 2008, subject to certain customary exceptions. In addition, they agreed to an orderly marketing
arrangement for the one year period thereafter.

New Articles of Association
At the AGM on 26 June 2008, a special resolution was passed which adopted new Articles of Association.

Results and dividends
The consolidated results for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 are shown on page 29. The profit for the year
attributable to shareholders was £6,040,000 (2007 : £5,327,000) reflecting a 13.4% increase over the prior year. Details of
dividends paid during the year are disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. The directors propose to pay a final dividend
of 2.0p per share which, together with the interim dividend of 1.50p per share already declared and paid, makes a total for the
year ended 31 December 2008 of 3.50p per share. Subject to approval at the annual general meeting the final dividend will be
paid on 30 April 2009 to shareholders on the register on 3 April 2009.
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Directors’ report (continued)
Directors
Profiles of the directors who held office during the year are set out on page 15. Mr Wilson was appointed on 11 March 2008.
In addition, Mr J Acornley served as a director until his resignation on 4 November 2008. In accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association, Messrs Green and Wilson will retire and offer themselves for re-election.
Directors’ interests
The interests of the directors in the Company’s shares are detailed in the remuneration committee report on page 25.

Related party transactions
Details of related party transaction are provided in Note 35 to the financial statements.

Substantial shareholdings
At 31 December 2008 the Company had been notified of the following interests of 3% or more in the Company’s ordinary
shares:
Number
of ordinary
shares

% of voting
rights held

C Ward

16,318,740

16.32%

C Davison

15,727,518

15.73%

Numis Securities Limited

13,064,020

13.06%

E Grace

10,598,952

10.60%

M Fairclough

6,729,929

6.73%

Invesco Perpetual

4,660,875

4.66%

Rensburg Sheppards Investment Management

4,545,454

4.55%

R Candy

3,512,479

3.51%

Directors’ indemnities
The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors and certain directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries. These were made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.
Creditor Payment policy
Although the Company does not follow a specific code when settling its payment obligations with creditors, it is the policy of
the Company to ensure that all suppliers of goods and services are paid promptly and in accordance with contractual and
legal obligations.
Employee involvement and environmental policy
The Group’s policies on staff welfare and the environment are set out on page 20.
Charitable and political donations
During the year, charitable donations amounted to £nil (2007: £nil). No political contributions were made.
Going Concern
The Group has adequate financial resources together with long term contracts with a number of customers across different
industries. As a consequence, the directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully
despite the current uncertain economic outlook.
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the annual report and accounts.
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Directors’ report (continued)
Auditors
Deloitte LLP (formerly Deloitte & Touche LLP) have agreed to offer themselves for reappointment as Auditors of the Company
and a resolution requesting approval of their reappointment and to authorise the directors to determine their remuneration will
be presented at the AGM.
Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
(1)

so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware;
and

(2)

the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234ZA of the Companies Act
1985.
Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held at the Company’s Rugby offices, 1 Mitchell Court, Castle Mound Way, Rugby, CV23 OUY at 11am on 28
April 2009. A separate Notice of Meeting is enclosed with this report.

By order of the Board

Adrian Green
Company Secretary
25 March 2009
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Corporate social responsibility
The Board believes that it should have regard for its community obligations when conducting its business. These obligations
include considering any environmental impact of its business strategy and operations, promoting staff welfare and ensuring
that it maintains the highest ethical standards when dealing with its customers and suppliers. It takes collective responsibility
for Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy and seeks to ensure a framework exists which is appropriate to the size of
the organisation. This framework is contained within the staff handbook and various written policies and procedures which are
available to all members of staff via an intranet.
Staff welfare
The Board endeavours to ensure that staff have a safe and comfortable environment in which to work whist ensuring that
a culture exists where staff are free to express their ideas and concerns. It is our aim to retain our staff, who are vital to the
continued success of the business, and attract additional well qualified people to join us by ensuring that remuneration
packages are competitive whilst also offering flexibility in working hours and office location where possible and appropriate.
The Group also encourages participation in the success of the business through share options and has a range of benefits
to support staff including pension provision, private medical insurance and life insurance cover. The Group operates an equal
opportunities policy.
Customers and suppliers
Part of the business is regulated by the Financial Services Authority which requires that business processes are formulated to
ensure that customers are treated fairly (TCF). This ethos has been embedded across the business and compliance reports
are regularly reviewed by the Board. We aim to be equally fair in our dealings with suppliers and aim to ensure that supplier
payments are made within their normal terms of business.
The environment
The Group has implemented processes to manage environmental risks so as to reduce, reuse and recycle, wherever possible,
waste materials.
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Corporate governance
The Board of directors of Abbey Protection plc recognises the importance of sound Corporate Governance and intends that
best practice is adopted and applied in so far as it is appropriate for a company and group of its size and stage of development.
This report describes how the Company has implemented and applied the principles of good Corporate Governance during
the year.
Background
Abbey Protection plc acquired 100% of the ordinary shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited via a share for share exchange
agreement on 14 November 2007 and was subsequently listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange on 29 November 2007. As explained in the Company’s Placing and Admission document, the Board of directors
intends to comply with the requirements of the Corporate Governance guidelines published by the Quoted Companies Alliance
(the QCA Guidelines) for AIM companies.
Prior to 29 November 2007, the business traded as a private unlisted company which operated in accordance with a
shareholders’ agreement which governed matters such as Board composition, matters requiring Board decision and other
matters relating to shareholders’ rights and duties. During this period there were standing committees of the Board for Audit
and Remuneration matters. These committees were comprised of Mr Hemsley, non-executive chairman and Mr Davison, Chief
Executive officer. The constitution of and terms of reference for these committees together with a schedule of matters reserved
for Board decision, were revised during the year and an additional standing committee to deal with Board nominations was
created on 31 October 2007. They are now comprised solely of non-executive directors.
The Board
The Board as a whole is responsible for the Group’s objectives and policies and the proper governance of the Company.
It normally meets monthly and has a formal agenda of items for consideration at each meeting. The Board provides overall
strategic direction to management by:
•
•
•
•

monitoring the operating and financial results against plans and budgets;
assessing the adequacy of risk management systems and monitoring their application;
reviewing the performance of management; and
setting corporate policy.

All directors receive appropriate and timely information to ensure that they are properly briefed in advance of Board meetings
and have unlimited access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and other senior management should
further information be required. A procedure has been established for non-executive directors to have access to independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense where they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities as directors.
No such advice was required during the year.
The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, which is reviewed annually to ensure that cover is held at
an appropriate level.
The Board has established guidelines requiring specific matters to be decided by the full Board of directors, including material
acquisitions and disposals, investments and capital projects. Matters that are reserved for the Board are generally forwarded
to the Board for consideration with a recommendation from the executive management or appropriate committee.
Appointment, induction and training
All new directors appointed by the Board are required to seek election by shareholders at the next general meeting of the
Company following their appointment and subsequently all directors are required to retire by rotation in accordance with
the Articles. On appointment, new directors are offered induction and training considered appropriate by the Board and
subsequently as necessary.
Composition
The Board comprised of five directors as at 31 December 2008, three of the directors are executive and two non-executive.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate. The directors who served during the year are listed on page 18
and their individual biographies appear on page 15. In addition, Mr J Acornley served as a director until his resignation on 4
November 2008.
In assessing the independence of non-executive directors, the Board took account of their experience, character and judgement,
together with their dependence on, or relationships with the Company. In all cases the Board felt the non-executive directors
were independent. Their role as non-executive directors is to challenge constructively, and contribute to, the development of
strategy; to scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor their performance;
and through the various committees to satisfy themselves that financial information is accurate and that financial controls and
systems of risk management are robust and defensible.
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Corporate governance (continued)
Mr Shearer served as non-executive Chairman of Abbey Protection plc throughout the year. The Chairman’s primary role
is to ensure that the Board and individual directors are able to operate efficiently by setting the agenda, style and tone of
Board discussions to promote constructive debate and effective decision making. The Group Chief Executive, Mr Davison,
together with the Group Managing Director, Mr Ward, lead the executive management team and are primarily responsible
for the implementation of the Board’s policies and strategies, effective communication with shareholders and for managing
the activities of the Company other than in relation to those matters specifically reserved to the Board or delegated to its
committees.
Board committees
The Board has delegated certain specific areas of responsibility to three standing committees.
Audit committee
During the year, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr Acornley until his resignation on 4 November 2008. Mr Shearer served
on the committee throughout the year and was appointed Chairman on 5 November 2008. Mr Wilson joined the committee
on 11 March 2008. The Audit Committee formally meets at least twice a year. Only Committee members and observers are
entitled to attend meetings, however the Group Chief Executive, the Group Managing Director, the Group Finance Director and
other members of the senior management may be invited to attend for all or part of the meetings. The external Auditors of the
Company will attend the meetings on a regular basis and will have unrestricted access to the Committee and its Chairman.
Remuneration committee
Mr Shearer served on the committee throughout the year. Until 5 November 2008 he was Chairman. Mr Acornley served on
the Committee until 4 November 2008, when he resigned as a director of the Company. Mr Wilson joined the committee on
11 March 2008 and was appointed Chairman on 5 November 2008. The Remuneration Committee meets as required and at
least twice each year. Other senior management and external advisers may be invited to attend meetings as the Remuneration
Committee considers appropriate.
Nomination committee
Mr Shearer served on the committee throughout the year. Until 5 November 2008 he was Chairman. Mr Acornley served on
the Committee until 4 November 2008, when he resigned as a director of the Company. Mr Wilson joined the committee on
11 March 2008 and was appointed Chairman on 5 November 2008. The Nomination Committee is responsible for considering
appointments to the Board of the Company and will be involved in the selection process of new directors.
Internal control
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control including financial operational compliance and
risk management controls, although the review of internal financial controls is delegated to the Audit Committee.
The Group’s intermediation activity is regulated by the Financial Services Authority of the United Kingdom (FSA) and the Board
has adopted procedures and controls designed to ensure its obligations under the FSA Rules and the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 are met. The Group’s underwriting activity is regulated by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission and
the Board has appointed specialist local managers to ensure its obligations are fulfilled.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
It is recognised that such a system can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
Relations with shareholders
The Company welcomes dialogue with institutional shareholders in order to achieve a mutual understanding of objectives.
The Group Chief Executive Officer, the Group Managing Director and the Group Finance Director offer meetings with larger
institutional shareholders and private client stockbrokers after the announcement of year end and interim results. The AGM also
provides a forum for investors to meet the directors, both formally and informally. The Chairmen of all of the Board’s committees
will be available to answer questions at the AGM of the Company. The Company’s website (www.abbeyprotectionplc.com)
contains regularly updated information regarding the Group, and is where all announcements and shareholder reports can be
obtained.
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Remuneration committee report
Introduction
As a company whose shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange’s AIM market, the Company is not required to comply
with the disclosure requirements of Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 or Schedule 7A of the Companies Act
1985. The following disclosures are provided on a voluntary basis as a matter of best practice.
Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of the non-executive directors. The Remuneration Committee was formed on 31
October 2007 comprising of two Independent non-executive directors, Tony Shearer (Chair) and John Acornley. On 11 March
2008, Paul Wilson was appointed as an Independent non-executive director and also joined the remuneration committee. On 4
November 2008 John Acornley resigned. On 5 November 2008 Tony Shearer stepped down as Chairman of the remuneration
committee and Paul Wilson was appointed Chairman.
The remuneration of each executive director, including bonuses and share option grants, is determined by the Committee, as
are the terms of their service agreements. From time to time, if it is considered appropriate, the Committee will commission
reports from expert remuneration consultants. The Committee does not determine the fees paid to non-executive directors.
These are determined by the Board on the recommendation of the Group Chief Executive and Group Managing Director. In
determining the directors’ remuneration, the Committee considered each individual director’s performance during the preceding
period along with external market factors.
Policy on remuneration of executive directors
It is the Company’s policy to provide remuneration packages that are competitive with those of other companies of a similar size,
complexity and stage of development. Furthermore, it is the objective of the Board, advised by the Remuneration Committee,
to provide remuneration packages that will attract, retain and motivate executive directors of the highest calibre.
The Group recognises the benefits of performance-related remuneration and both the award of annual bonuses and the exercise
of share options are linked to various performance measures. These measures are balanced between internal measures and
growth in earnings per share to achieve maximum alignment between executive and shareholder objectives.
Components of the remuneration package
The principal components of executive directors’ remuneration packages are basic salary, pension contributions and
performance-related bonuses. Additionally, at the discretion of the remuneration committee, executive directors are eligible to
participate in medium and long-term incentives in the form of share options. The policy in relation to each of these components,
and key terms of the various incentive and benefit programmes are explained further below and in the notes to the financial
statements.
Basic salary
Basic salaries are reviewed annually, taking into account recommendations on individual performance and salary levels in
comparable companies.
Performance-related bonus
The executive directors, along with the executive directors of Abbey Protection Group Limited, are eligible for an annual cash
bonus. The bonus pool is calculated as up to 10% of Group profit before tax (after deducting any underwriting profit arising
in Ibex Reinsurance Limited). The award of bonuses from this pool is based on the recommendations of the Group Chief
Executive and Group Managing Director and are approved by the remuneration committee.
Share options
Details of the share option schemes operated by the Company are disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements. The grant
of share options is subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee. Share options may normally only be granted within
42 days of the announcement by the Company of its interim or final results each year. Share options may be granted outside
these periods if the Remuneration Committee considers that there are sufficiently exceptional circumstances to justify the grant
of share options at that time. No payment is required for the grant of a share option.
An individual director’s maximum level of participation under the share option schemes will be set by the Board in accordance
with the rules of each scheme and under advice from the remuneration Committee. The benefits under the share option
schemes are not pensionable. An option will lapse if the participant ceases to be employed within the Group otherwise than
due to death and to the extent otherwise determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. If a participant dies, the option
may be exercised within twelve months after his/her death.
During the year no options have been granted to executive directors.
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Remuneration committee report (continued)
Full details of directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company are set out below in this report.
Pension arrangements
All employees, including executive directors are invited to participate in a Group Personal
Pension Plan (“GPPP”), which is money purchase in nature. Alternatively, the Company may make contributions to personal
pension schemes held by employees or executive directors equal to those that would have been made to the GPPP. The
only pensionable element of remuneration is basic salary. The Company contributes 7.5% of basic salary to the pension
arrangements of executive directors.
Other benefits
Benefits in kind for executive directors include the provision of a car, life assurance, and private medical insurance.
Directors’ service contracts
Non-executive directors receive letters of appointment, setting out the terms and conditions of their appointment and their
expected time commitment. It is the Company’s policy that non-executive directors should be appointed for an initial period of
three years (from the next general meeting following their initial appointment in the case of new non-executive directors) and
that they may be re-elected for two further terms of three years each. Re-appointment at the end of such periods should not
be considered automatic and each director’s contribution will be carefully assessed. The letters of appointment provide for
termination of the director’s appointment under certain circumstances and in all cases without any compensation. Each nonexecutive director is entitled to a fee at the rate of £35,000 per annum. Tony Shearer, the Group Chairman, is entitled to a fee
at the rate of £50,000 per annum.
The Company’s policy is for executive directors to have contracts of employment with an indefinite term. The contracts are
terminable by either party giving not less than 12 months notice. The executive directors are subject to certain restrictive
covenants for a period of 12 months following termination of their employment. All executive directors are subject to re-election
at an AGM at intervals of no more than three years.
Audited information
Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 is set out below:

Salaries

Fees Benefits

Pension
contributions

Cash
bonus

Year
Compensation
ended 31
for loss of
December
office
2008

Year
ended 31
December
2007

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

C Davison

125,009

-

23,070

9,376

50,000

-

207,455

191,821

C Ward

125,009

-

10,745

9,376

50,000

-

195,130

189,667

A Green

107,753

-

6,771

8,082

50,000

-

172,606

166,136

T Shearer

-

50,000

-

-

-

-

50,000

8,333

P Wilson

-

29,167

-

-

-

-

29,167

-

29,167

-

-

-

8,750

37,917

5,833

357,771 108,334

40,586

26,834 150,000

8,750

692,275

561,790

Executive directors

Non-executive directors

J Acornley
Total

Messrs Davison, Ward and Green are also directors of Abbey Protection Group Limited, a subsidiary company. The emoluments
disclosed in the table above reflect their total emoluments. For the period prior to 1 November 2007, their emoluments are
disclosed within the financial statements of Abbey Protection Group Limited.
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Remuneration committee report (continued)
Directors’ interests
The current directors and their interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2008 were as follows:

31 December 2008
31 December 2007
Ordinary shares of 1p each Ordinary shares of 1p each
C Davison

15,727,518

15,727,518

C Ward

16,318,740

16,318,740

A F Green

1,782,528

1,782,528

T Shearer

90,909

90,909

-

-

33,919,695

33,919,695

P Wilson
Total

Directors’ interests under share incentive schemes are shown in the table below:

Director

Plan

Options
held at 31
December
2007

Options
granted/
(lapsed)
during the
year

Options
held at 31
December
2008

Exercise
price

Date from
which first
exercisable

Expiry date

C Davison

2007 SAYE

21,818

-

21,818

£0.44

01/01/2011

30/06/2011

C Ward

2007 SAYE

21,818

-

21,818

£0.44

01/01/2011

30/06/2011

A F Green

2007 SAYE

21,818

-

21,818

£0.44

01/01/2011

30/06/2011

A F Green

2007 LTIP

363,636

-

363,636

£0.00

02/01/2011

29/11/2017

429,090

-

429,090

Total

Financial statements
& notes

Financial statements and notes
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Directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have
elected to prepare the Group financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) as adopted by the
European Union and the parent company financial statements under United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial statements are also required by law to be properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.
International Accounting Standard 1 requires that IFRS financial statements present fairly for each financial year the company’s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions,
other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and
expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of
financial statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs.
However, directors are also required to:
•
•
•
•

properly select and apply accounting policies;
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 			
comparable and understandable information;
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial 		
position and financial performance; and
make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The parent company financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 		
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the parent company financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ report to the shareholders
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘’financial statements’’) of Abbey Protection plc
for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Parent Company Balance
Sheet, the Parent Company Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 49. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the remuneration committee
report that is described as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an Auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and for preparing the Parent
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the remuneration committee report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the
Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that
specific information presented in the business review that is cross referred from the Principal Activities and Business Review
section of the Directors’ Report.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section, and consider whether
it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
further information outside the Annual Report.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the remuneration committee report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
remuneration committee report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements and the part of the remuneration committee report to be audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
•
the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 		
Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended;
•
the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008;
•
the financial statements and the part of the remuneration committee report to be audited have been properly 		
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
•
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
25 March 2009
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008
Note

2008
£000

2007
£000

£000

£000

Revenue
Intermediary, advisory and other income

7

Gross premiums written

6

12,365

11,945

Outward reinsurance premiums

6

-

(321)

6

(326)

(703)

Net change in provision for unearned
premiums

16,294

14,803

Net premiums earned

6

12,039

10,921

Net investment return

8

1,918

1,625

30,251

27,349

Total revenue
Expenses
Claims and change in insurance liabilities

9

(7,695)

(7,617)

Acquisition costs

10

(1,111)

(683)

11

(13,178)

(11,710)

Other operating and administrative
expenses
Total operating expenses

Profit before tax
Tax expense

14

Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the parent

(21,984)

(20,010)

8,267

7,339

(2,227)

(2,012)

6,040

5,327

Pence per

Pence per

share

share

Earnings per share
From continuing operations

Basic

16

6.09

5.86

Diluted

16

6.03

5.81

There were no discontinued operations.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2008
Note

Opening shareholders’ equity

2008

2007

£000

£000

14,661

12,001

Proceeds from issue of new shares

30

-

1,050

Shares acquired in share for share
exchange

30

-

(873)

Redemption of shares

30

-

(52)

Share premium

31

-

3,315

Transfer on reverse acquisition

32

-

188

Equity settled share based payments

32

155

8

Preference dividend paid

32

-

15

Ordinary dividend paid

32

(1,488)

(6,250)

Purchase of own shares

32

-

(68)

Profit for the year
Closing shareholders’ equity

6,040

5,327

19,368

14,661
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Consolidated balance sheet
At 31 December 2008
Note

2008

2007

£000

£000

Assets
Goodwill

17

5,138

1,028

Other intangible assets

18

2,076

190

Property, plant and equipment

19

1,699

574

Financial investments

22

8,212

17,961

Trade and other receivables

25

18,676

17,940

Cash and cash equivalents

26

25,419

15,940

61,220

53,633

16,334

Total assets
Liabilities
Insurance contract provisions

23

16,960

Financial liabilities

27

1,100

-

Finance lease obligations

36

193

218

Deferred tax liabilities

24

2,466

1,710

1,108

859

Current tax liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

28

8,109

7,508

Trade and other payables

29

11,916

12,343

41,852

38,972

Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital

30

1,000

1,000

Share premium

31

3,539

3,539

Own shares

30

(298)

(298)

Retained earnings

32

13,937

9,385

Merger reserves

32

282

282

Reverse takeover reserve

32

188

188

Capital redemption reserve

32

557

557

Equity settled share incentive reserve

32

163

8

19,368

14,661

Total shareholders’ equity

The financial statements on pages 29 to 73 were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 March
2009. They were signed on its behalf by:

Colin Davison
Group Chief Executive

Chris Ward
Group Managing Director
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008
Note

Profit before tax

2008

2007

£000

£000

8,267

7,339

(1,852)

(1,594)

(21)

(8)

Adjusted for:
Interest receivable
Profit on sale of assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

18

137

80

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

19

272

235

Equity settled share based payments

155

8

(Increase)/decrease in work in progress

(42)

97

(324)

(3,206)

Increase in receivables
Increase in payables

496

4,640

Cash generated by operations

7,088

7,591

Interest received

1,932

1,435

(1,890)

(1,206)

7,130

7,820

9,749

(2,875)

(40)

(75)

Tax paid
Net cash from operating activities
Investing activities
Sales/(purchases) of financial investments
Purchases of intangible assets

18

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

19

(201)

(146)

Acquisition of subsidiary

20

(4,521)

-

4,987

(3,096)

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Preference dividend paid
Equity dividend paid

-

15

(1,488)

(6,250)

(1,150)

-

30

-

(52)

15

Bank Loan repayment
Redemption of share capital
Issue of share capital

30&31

-

3,680

Purchase of own shares

30

-

(1,068)

Sale of own shares

30

-

1,000

(2,638)

(2,675)

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

9,479

2,049

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period

15,940

13,891

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

25,419

15,940
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Notes to the financial statements
1

General information											

Abbey Protection Limited was incorporated on 24 August 2007 as a shell company to facilitate the acquisition and listing
on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock exchange (AIM) of the Abbey Protection Group Limited. On 14
November 2007, Abbey Protection Limited was re-registered as Abbey Protection plc and then acquired Abbey Protection
Group Limited under a share for share exchange agreement. On 29 November 2007, Abbey Protection plc was admitted to
trading on AIM.											
												
In order to appropriately reflect the substance of the transaction outlined above, the new holding company was accounted
for using the reverse acquisition principles outlined in IFRS3 business combinations. Consequently, Abbey Protection Group
Limited was deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes and the legal parent, Abbey Protection plc was treated as the
subsidiary whose identifiable assets and liabilities are incorporated into the Group at fair value.				
							
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are issued in the name of the legal parent, Abbey Protection plc. However, as
a consequence of applying reverse takeover accounting, the results for the year ended 31 December 2007 represented a
continuation of the consolidated activities of Abbey Protection Group Limited for the year ended 31 December 2006 plus those
of Abbey Protection plc from 14 November 2007. The consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2007 reflected the issued
share capital and reserves of Abbey Protection plc. The comparative earnings per share are not altered by the application
guidance of IFRS3.											
												
2
Significant accounting policies										
The principal accounting polices adopted in preparing the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) consolidated
financial statements of Abbey Protection plc and its subsidiaries (the “AP Group”) are set out below:				
							
(a)
Statement of compliance											
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union
(EU). The Group’s consolidated financial information for the period 1 April 2004 to 30 June 2007 was restated to comply with
IFRS requirements and was published in the Group’s Placing and Admission to AIM document. No adjustments are necessary
to the amounts measured previously for their inclusion as comparatives in these consolidated financial statements. 		
									
In accordance with IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, the AP Group has applied existing accounting practices for insurance and
participating investment contracts, modified as appropriate to comply with the IFRS framework and applicable standards.
										
The AP Group has not applied IFRS 8, Operating Segments, which is effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009.
The standard refers to new disclosures about segment reporting and replaces the disclosures required by IAS 14, Segment
Reporting, (see accounting policy i). Other accounting developments are discussed in accounting policies note t.
										
The AP Group presents its balance sheet in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.
For each asset and liability line item in the balance sheet that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled within
twelve months, or more than twelve months after the balance sheet date, a classification at the balance sheet date is included
within the notes. 											
												
(b)
Basis of preparation											
(i) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling and are rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated. They are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial investments (see accounting policy m) are
classified as fair value through profit and loss account and stated at their fair value.						
					
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.			
								
The results and cash flows relating to subsidiaries acquired or disposed of in the year are included in the consolidated income
statement and the consolidated cash flow statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with
those used by the Group. All inter-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.		
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2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)										

(ii) Parent Company											
The financial statements for the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles. Advantage has been taken of the merger relief provisions within S131 Companies Act 1985 for the acquisition of
Abbey Protection Group Limited by Abbey Protection plc. Accordingly, the initial investment in subsidiary undertakings has
been recorded at the nominal value of the shares issued to acquire the subsidiary.						
					
(iii) Use of estimates											
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 		
									
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if
the revision affects both current and future years.									
									
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements, and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed in note 3.				
(iv) Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis as explained within the Directors' Report on page 18.
									
(v) Business combinations											
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with IFRS5 Non Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised
and measured at fair value less costs to sell.										
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and intially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit and loss.
										
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill which is recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment
at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.			
								
Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRSs has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts
subject to being tested for impairment at that date.									
		
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented. 				
							
(c)
Recognition and measurement of revenue									
		
Intermediary, advisory and other income										
Intermediary, advisory and other income comprises:									
		
• commission receivable (net of the direct costs of legal and technical advisory services) from clients in respect of the
arrangement of legal professional fees insurance and “after the event” policies and is recognised at the date of inception
of the contract;
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)
Recognition and measurement of revenue (continued)
			
Intermediary, advisory and other income (continued)
•
•
•

•
•

fees for the provision of non-insured helpline services which are recognised over the contract periods;			
								
fees for legal and tax representation work which are recognised on a proportional basis as the work is completed;
subscriptions receivable from members of the Accident Line panel of solicitors for their participation in the Accident Line
personal injury scheme which are recognised over the subscription year;						
					
fees and commissions for the provision of tele-marketing services which are recognised when earned; and			
								
management and claims handling fees arising from claims run-off contracts which are recognised over the lives of the
contracts having regard to the average periods required to settle claims.					

Where contractual obligations exist for the performance of post placement activities, a relevant proportion of revenue recognised
on placement is deferred and recognised over the period during which these activities are performed.				
							
Insurance premiums											
												
Gross premiums written comprise the premiums on contracts entered into during the year, irrespective of whether they relate in
whole or in part to a later accounting period. Premiums are disclosed gross of acquisition costs and exclude taxes and levies
based on premiums. Premiums written include adjustments to premiums written in prior accounting periods and estimates
for pipeline premiums. An estimate is made at the balance sheet date to recognise retrospective adjustments to premiums.
The earned portion of premiums received, is recognised as revenue. Those proportions of premiums written in a year which
relate to periods of risk extending beyond the end of the year are carried forward as unearned premiums. Outward reinsurance
premiums are recognised as a deduction from net insurance revenue in accordance with the contractual arrangements with
reinsurers.											
Unearned premium provision											
The provision for unearned premiums comprises the proportion of gross premiums written which is estimated to be earned
in the following or subsequent financial years, computed separately for each insurance contract using the monthly pro rata
method.											
												
Claims											
Claims incurred consist of claims paid during the financial year, together with the movement in the provision for outstanding
claims.											
												
Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the AP Group’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but
unpaid at the balance sheet date whether reported or not, and related internal and external claims handling expenses. Claims
outstanding are assessed by reviewing individual claims and making allowance for claims incurred but not yet reported, adjusted
for the effect of both internal and external foreseeable events, such as changes in claims handling procedures, inflation, judicial
trends, legislative changes and past experience and trends. Anticipated reinsurance recoveries are presented separately as
assets. Reinsurance and other recoveries are assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of claims outstanding.		
									
Whilst the directors consider that the gross provisions for claims and the related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on
the basis of the information currently available to them, the ultimate liability will vary as a result of subsequent information and
events and may result in significant adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims provisions
established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements for the period in which the adjustments are made, and
disclosed separately if material. The methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed regularly.				
							
Unexpired risk provision											
												
Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from business where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to
the unexpired periods of policies in force at the balance sheet date exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to
such policies after the deduction of any deferred acquisition costs. The provision for unexpired risks is calculated separately
by reference to classes of business which are managed together, after taking into account the relevant investment return.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Recognition and measurement of revenue (continued)								

Claims liabilities											
												
The provision represents the estimated ultimate cost of settling all claims including direct and indirect settlement costs, arising
from events that occurred up to the balance sheet date. Unpaid losses consist of estimates for reported losses and provisions
for losses not reported.
Reinsurance											
												
The Group purchased a stop loss reinsurance policy in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its net loss
potential through the diversification of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its direct obligations
to its policyholders. The Board re-assessed the requirement for a stop loss re-insurance policy during 2007 and decided to
commute the policy on 31 December 2007. Premiums ceded and benefits reimbursed are presented in the income statement
and balance sheet on a gross basis.											
Deferred acquisition costs
										
Acquisition costs which are incurred for acquiring insurance business that is primarily related to the production of that business
are deferred (see accounting policy l). Such deferred acquisition costs are finite and are amortised by reference to the basis on
which the related premiums are earned which is generally one year or less.							
				
(d)
Investment income											
Investment income comprises interest income and net gains/losses from financial assets designated as fair value through profit
& loss earned in the period (see note 8).								
(e)
Expenses											
												
(i) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.											
(ii) Finance lease payments
Leases, under the terms of which the AP Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as
finance leases. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each year during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. 										
(iii) Finance costs											
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method and are expensed
in the Income Statement in the period to which they relate. No finance costs are capitalised.					
									
(f)
Employee benefits											
Defined contribution plans											
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as
incurred.											
(g)

Income tax											

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement.				
					
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.					
													
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future are
not provided for. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
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Significant accounting policies (continued)									

(g)

Income tax (continued)										

carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.		
									
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.							
											
(h)
Foreign currency translation									
												
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to the presentational currency
(pounds sterling) at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to pounds sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates the fair value was determined.										
(i)

Segment reporting											

A business segment is an operation that provides products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from
other business segments. A geographical segment provides products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from other geographical segments.					
						
(j)
Other intangible assets											
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item
of other intangible assets. 											
													
The estimated useful lives are as follows:										
Computer software			
Brands					
Customer relationships			

Over 4 years								
Over 15 years							
Over 5 to 7 years								

There are no internally generated intangible assets.
												
(k)
Property, plant and equipment										
(i) Owned assets											
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost (or deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation (see below) and
impairment losses (see accounting policy p). Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.						
				
(ii) Leased assets										
Leases under the terms of which the AP Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised at fair value as property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the AP Group’s accounting policy k(iii). Lease payments are accounted for as described in
accounting policy e(ii). Other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised on the AP Group’s balance
sheet.									
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)									

(iii) Depreciation											
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 		
of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. 							
				
The estimated useful lives are as follows:									
Freehold property				
Leasehold improvements			
Equipment and motor vehicles		
IT equipment				

Over 50 years								
Over the duration of the lease						
Over 3 to 5 years								
Over 4 years								

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
value of the asset and is recognised in income. The residual value, if not insignificant, is reassessed annually. 			
								
(l)
Deferred acquisition costs											
Acquisition costs comprise the reinsurance commission arising from entering into reinsurance contracts. Deferred acquisition
costs represent the proportion of acquisition costs incurred which corresponds to the unearned premiums provision and are
disclosed within trade and other receivables. Acquisition costs are not deferred to the extent that available future margins are
not expected to cover such deferred costs.										
(m)

Financial investments										

The Group classifies its investments as financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss.				
							
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the assets, at their fair values less transaction costs. Investments classified at fair value through the income statement
are subsequently carried at fair value, with changes in fair value included in the income statement in the period in which they
arise.											
The fair values of investments are based on quoted bid prices. 								
			
(n)
Other receivables											
												
Other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy p).				
						
(o)
Cash and cash equivalents											
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.										
									
(p)
Impairment											
												
The carrying amounts of the AP Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the carrying value is reduced to the estimated recoverable amount by
means of a charge to the income statement. 										
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.							
											
(q)
Financial liabilities										
												
Financial liabilities comprise bank overdrafts and other payables including deferred purchase consideration. Financial liabilities
are recognised on the balance sheet when the AP Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. 											
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)

Financial liabilities (continued)									

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of financial liabilities reasonably approximate their fair values because
these liabilities are short term in nature or are repriced frequently. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the AP Group’s
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.							
				
(r)
Provisions and contingent liabilities										
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, and
it is probable that an outflow of resources, embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is more probable than not.			
								
The Group recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are less
than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.							
				
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the future obligation is probable but the amount cannot be reliably estimated.		
									
(s)
Dividends											
												
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised when they are declared.
(t)

Accounting developments											

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:
Reclassification of Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7), issued in October 2008
IAS 27 (Amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity, or associate
IFRS 2 (Amended) Share based payment - Vesting conditions and Cancellations
IFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing Costs
IAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 32/IAS 1 (Amended) Puttable Financial Instruments and obligations arising on Liquidation
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Program
IFRIC 15 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation Improvements to IFRS (May 2008)
Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (May 2008)
The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact
on the financial statements of the Group except for additional segment disclosures when IFRS 8 comes into effect for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2009.									
3
Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies					
						
The AP Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. Estimates and judgements are regularly reviewed and based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.					
						
The most critical judgements and estimates made by the AP Group are those regarding reported and unreported losses in
respect of insurance contracts. The ultimate settlement cost of incurred general insurance claims is inherently uncertain.
Such uncertainty includes:											
i) whether a claim event has occurred or not and how much it will ultimately settle for;					
ii) variability in the speed with which claims are notified and in the time taken to settle them, especially complex cases resolved
through the courts;											
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Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

iii) changes in the portfolio affecting factors such as the number of claims and their typical settlement costs, which may differ
significantly from past patterns;									
iv) new types of claim, including latent claims, which arise from time to time; and			
v) changes in legislation and court attitudes to compensation, which may apply retrospectively.
Outstanding claims and provisions											
The AP Group establishes reserves in respect of the anticipated losses incurred in respect of business it has written. These
reserves reflect the expected ultimate cost of settling claims occurring prior to the balance sheet date, but remaining unsettled
at that time, and take into account any related reinsurance recoveries. Such reserves are established separately for each line
of business written by the AP Group and fall into two categories – reserves for reported losses and reserves for losses incurred
but not reported as of the balance sheet date.										
Reserves for reported losses are established on a case-by-case basis and are based largely on past experience of settlements
on similar claims. The reserves are set on an undiscounted basis and reflect the anticipated cost of final settlement, taking into
account inflation and other factors which might influence the final outcome. Such reserves are reviewed on a regular basis to
take account of changing circumstances, such as changes in the law and changes in costs relating to settlement.		
									
Reserves for losses incurred but not reported as of the balance sheet date are also established on an undiscounted basis.
They are estimated based on historical data using various actuarial techniques and statistical modelling methodologies. As
with case reserves, reserves for losses incurred but not reported are calculated separately for each line of business written and
take into account trends in settlement costs in arriving at the final estimates. For further details on loss reserves see note 23.
										
4
Risk management											
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk									
		
The AP Group provides advice, consultancy and management services and also arranges and underwrites insurance. The
AP Group places its underwriting liabilities in the UK. Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited, the AP Group’s captive reinsurer
broadly writes an eighty percent quota share reinsurance of the business placed by AP (90 percent for risks incepting after 1
January 2008). As such it is itself exposed to a number of risks, including insurance risk, financial risk, market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. 											
												
The AP Group has various procedures in place to manage these exposures. These include an overall risk management
framework, together with a set of clearly defined risk policies which articulate the AP Group’s risk appetite. The AP Group also
maintains a comprehensive risk register which identifies the individual risks faced in each area of the business and the controls
in place to mitigate these. The AP Group’s Risk Committee meets regularly to review both the risk policies and the risk register,
to ensure they are up-to-date, reflecting the risks currently facing the business, and that corresponding control issues and risk
mitigation actions are being addressed in a timely manner. The findings of the Risk Committee are reported to the AP Group’s
Board.											
												
Looking at the main areas of risk faced by the AP Group, and the strategies in place to manage these:				
							
(a)
Insurance risk											
												
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty and timing of the
amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is unpredictable and difficult to quantify with
certainty. 											
												
The principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the
carrying amount of the insurance liabilities, which may occur if the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than
estimated. Insurance events are unpredictable and the actual level of claims and benefits may vary from year to year from the
estimate established using statistical techniques.
		
Experience shows that the larger and more diversified the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative
variability about the expected outcome will be. The Group’s insurance underwriting strategy aims to diversify the client base
by managing the distribution of its products to reduce the aggregation of exposure to any particular type or client or industry.
Factors that typically aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, geographical
spread and type of customer covered.										
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Risk management (continued)

Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(a)

Insurance risk (continued)

The AP Group’s management of insurance risk is a critical aspect of the business. It manages this through various policies
and procedures including underwriting limits, approval procedures for transactions that involve new products or that exceed
set limits, pricing guidelines, and the close monitoring of emerging issues. 							
				
The main types of policy reinsured by the AP Group are as follows:							
				
• Commercial Legal Expenses which predominantly compensates the policyholder for legal fees incurred e.g. employment
or contract disputes.											
												
• Professional Fee Protection which predominantly compensates the policyholder for costs incurred in respect of professional
accountants’ fees arising from an enquiry instigated by Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs.				
							
The AP Group uses several methods to assess and monitor the risk exposures associated with each of these for the individual
types of risks insured including internal risk measurement models.							
				
The theory of probability is applied to the pricing and provisioning for a portfolio of insurance contracts. The principal risks
are that the frequency and severity of the claims are greater than expected. Insurance events are, by their nature random and
hence the actual number and size of events during any one year may vary from those estimated using established statistical
techniques.											
													
The AP Group purchased an aggregate stop loss reinsurance policy in order to control its exposures to losses and protect
capital resources. There have been no claims under this policy. The Board re-assessed the requirement for a stop loss reinsurance policy during 2007 and decided to commute the policy on 31 December 2007. 					
						
(b)
Concentrations of insurance risk										
The AP Group has regard for potential concentration of insurance risk, which may exist where a particular event or series
of events could impact significantly upon the AP Group’s liabilities. Such concentrations may arise from a single insurance
contract or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to circumstances where significant liabilities could arise.
This risk is managed by ensuring the AP Group operates a robust underwriting approach through limiting the exposure to any
one type of distributor and maintaining policy exposure limits to acceptable levels together with a proactive claims handling
methodology. 											
												
(c)
Changes to legislation											
The AP Group is exposed to changes in legislation which could result in claims arising which were not contemplated by
underwriters’ pricing models. The AP Group addresses this risk by ensuring that developments in the legislative arena are
closely monitored and ensuring that policy wordings are regularly reviewed.						
					
(d)
Economic downturns											
The APG Group’s insurance portfolio exposes it to correlations and interdependencies to different types of risks arising in the
event of an economic recession. In particular an economic downturn may lead to an increased incidence of claims in respect
of commercial legal expenses insurance. The AP Group’s initial strategy in the event of a recession would be to address the
above risks in order to reduce any excess losses. This would be performed by increasing premium rates in order to cover the
anticipated losses. Where an increase in the premium rates is not achievable then an alternative option would be to reduce
the level of activity in the market.											
									
(e)
Financial risk											
												
The AP Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. In particular the key financial risk
is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The
most important components of financial risk affecting the AP Group are interest rate risk and credit risk.			
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Risk management (continued)

Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(e)

Financial risk (continued)

The AP Group actively manages its assets using an approach that balances quality, diversification, liquidity and investment
return. The goal of the investment process is to optimise the net of taxes, risk-adjusted investment income and risk-adjusted
total return, whilst ensuring that the assets and liabilities are managed on a cash flow and duration basis and capital is
preserved. The AP Group’s Board reviews the portfolios on a periodic basis, establishing investment guidelines and limits, and
provides oversight of the asset/liability management process which is regularly reported.					
											
(f)
Interest rate risk											
												
The AP Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is primarily concentrated in its investment portfolio.
Changes in investment values attributable to interest rate changes are mitigated by investment parameters which mandate the
average duration of the portfolio cannot exceed 18 months and no individual holding can exceed 2 years.			
								
The AP Group is also exposed to the risk of changes in future cash flows from cash and fixed income securities arising from
changes in market interest rates. 											
												
The effective interest rate at the balance sheet dates on investments and cash equivalents was:				
												
					
2008		
2007
												
Financial investments		
5.40%		
6.12%
Cash and cash equivalents		

3.40%		

5.86%							

If interest rates were to change by 1%, the expected change in investment income would be £336,000 (2007: £339,000)
The investment policy of the AP Group requires that investments are predominantly rated AA by Standard and Poor’s (or
equivalent) with a minimum counterparty rating of A. Short-term deposits are placed with credit institutions that are rated P1
or equivalent.											
												
(g)
Credit risk											
												
The AP Group’s portfolio of fixed income securities and, to a lesser extent, short-term and other investments and debtors and
receivables, are subject to credit risk. This risk is defined as the potential loss in market value resulting from adverse changes
in a debtor’s ability to repay. The risk is managed based on the AP Group’s investment strategy which clearly articulates its risk
appetite in terms of the debt ratings of securities held and maximum counterparty exposure. This is monitored on a quarterly
basis by the Board. Debtor balances are age analysed and reviewed monthly with an active credit control process in place to
ensure payments are received within agreed terms.									
		
The AP Group is exposed to potential credit risks through its reinsurance underwriting, where amounts due may not be paid.
The AP Group manages this risk through dealing with only A or better grade insurers, based on Standard and Poor’s (or
equivalent) ratings which are regularly monitored. 									
		
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the AP Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables, the AP Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Since the AP Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral.										
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the AP Group which are not offset by liabilities.			
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Risk management (continued)

Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
		
(h)
Liquidity risk											
												
The AP Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources mainly from operating expenses and claims arising from
insurance contracts. Liquidity risk is the risk that funds may not be available to pay obligations when due. The AP Group has
robust processes in place to manage liquidity risk and has adequate access to funding in case of need. Sources of funding
include available cash balances and other readily marketable assets. The maturity profile of financial liabilities and finance lease
obligations are set out in notes 27 and 36 respectively.		
							
				
(i)
Claims development
											
Claims development information is disclosed in order to illustrate the insurance risk inherent in the AP Group. The tables
compare the claims paid on an underwriting year basis with the provisions established for these claims. The tables provide
a review of current estimates of cumulative claims gross and net of reinsurance and demonstrates how the estimated claims
have changed at subsequent reporting or underwriting year-ends. The estimate is increased or decreased as losses are paid
and more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of unpaid claims. As the AP Group uses underwriting
year accounting, the premiums exposed to each year of account typically develop over a three year period and ultimate
incurred claims have a similar initial development pattern. Under or over provision for ultimate losses should become apparent
from year three.											
												
While the information in the table provides a historical perspective on the adequacy of unpaid claims estimates established in
previous years, readers of these financial statements are cautioned against extrapolating redundancies or deficiencies of the
past on current unpaid loss balances. The AP Group believes that the estimate of total claims outstanding as of the end of the
period are adequate. However, due to the inherent uncertainties in the provisioning process, it cannot be assured that such
balances will ultimately prove to be adequate.
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Risk management (continued)										

Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(i)

Claims development (continued)

Analysis of gross earned premiums and claims development
Gross earned premiums
Underwriting year
2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

At end of underwriting year

2,956

3,236

3,101

3,539

3,650

4,155

20,637

- one year later

4,689

4,922

5,969

6,784

7,045

-

29,409

259

815

948

871

-

-

2,893

(7)

3

3

-

-

-

(1)

- four years later

-

(35)

-

-

-

-

(35)

- five years later

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,897

8,941

10,021

11,194

10,695

4,155

52,903

- two years later
- three years later

Estimate of cumulative claims

Underwriting year
2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

At end of underwriting year

2,582

2,823

2,636

3,014

3,103

3,535

17,693

- one year later

3,534

3,418

3,947

4,485

4,651

-

20,035

- two years later

(860)

(94)

302

187

-

-

(465)

- three years later

(123)

(44)

(557)

-

-

-

(724)

- four years later

(229)

(113)

-

-

-

-

(342)

- five years later

(8)

-

-

-

-

-

(8)

Estimate of cumulative claims

4,896

5,990

6,328

7,686

7,754

3,535

36,189

Cumulative payments to date

(4,777)

(5,624)

(5,346)

(5,521)

(4,272)

(546)

(26,086)

119

366

982

2,165

3,482

2,989

10,103

Gross & net outstanding claims
liabilities

There were no reinsurance recoverables during the periods presented within these financial statements.
Gross earned premiums less claims costs
Underwriting year

At end of underwriting year

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

374

413

465

525

547

620

2,944

- one year later

1,155

1,504

2,022

2,299

2,394

-

9,374

- two years later

1,119

909

646

684

-

-

3,358

- three years later

116

47

560

-

-

-

723

- four years later

229

78

-

-

-

-

307

- five years later

8

-

-

-

-

-

8

3,001

2,951

3,693

3,508

2,941

620

16,714
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Segment information
							
(a)
Primary reporting format - business segments							
								
The AP Group has two primary business segments namely insurance underwriting and intermediary, advisory and other. The
analysis of the results, assets and liabilities by segment are shown below:
Year ended 31 December 2008

Insurance
Underwriting

Intermediary,
Advisory and
Other

Total

£000

£000

£000

-

16,294

16,294

12,365

-

12,365

-

-

-

Revenue
Intermediary, advisory and other income
Gross premiums written
Outward reinsurance premiums
Net change in provisions for unearned premiums

(326)

-

(326)

Net earned premiums

12,039

-

12,039

Net investment return

1,434

484

1,918

13,473

16,778

30,251

Claims and change in insurance liabilities

(7,695)

-

(7,695)

Acquisition costs

(1,111)

-

(1,111)

Total revenue
Expenses

Other operating and administrative expenses

(108)

(13,070)

(13,178)

(8,914)

(13,070)

(21,984)

4,559

3,708

8,267

(1,149)

(1,078)

(2,227)

3,410

2,630

6,040

Goodwill

-

5,138

5,138

Other intangible assets

-

2,076

2,076

Property, plant and equipment

-

1,699

1,699

8,212

-

8,212

Trade and other receivables

4,931

13,745

18,676

Cash and cash equivalents

17,057

8,362

25,419

Total assets

30,200

31,020

61,220

Total operating expenses
Profit before tax
Tax expense
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Segments assets

Financial investments
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Segment information (continued)
							
(a)
Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2008

Insurance
Underwriting

Intermediary,
Advisory and
Other

Total

16,960

-

16,960

Financial liabilities

-

1,100

1,100

Financial lease obligations

-

193

193

2,060

406

2,466

-

1,108

1,108

12

8,097

8,109

351

11,565

11,916

19,383

22,469

41,852

Segments liabilities
Insurance contract provisions

Deferred tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Fixed asset additions, depreciation and amortisation charges relate to Intermediary, Advisory and Other operations and are
disclosed in notes 18 and 19.
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Segment information (continued)
							
(a)
Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2007

Insurance
Underwriting

Intermediary,
Advisory and
Other

Total

£000

£000

£000

-

14,803

14,803

11,945

-

11,945

Outward reinsurance premiums

(321)

-

(321)

Net change in provisions for unearned premiums

(703)

-

(703)

Net earned premiums

10,921

-

10,921

Net investment return

1,183

442

1,625

12,104

15,245

27,349

(7,617)

-

(7,617)

Acquisition costs

(683)

-

(683)

Other operating and administrative expenses

(102)

(11,608)

(11,710)

(8,402)

(11,608)

(20,010)

3,702

3,637

7,339

(1,000)

(1,012)

(2,012)

2,702

2,625

5,327

Goodwill

-

1,028

1,028

Other intangible assets

-

190

190

Property, plant and equipment

-

574

574

17,961

-

17,961

Trade and other receivables

4,755

13,185

17,940

Cash and cash equivalents

5,366

10,574

15,940

28,082

25,551

53,633

Revenue
Intermediary, advisory and other income
Gross premiums written

Total revenue
Expenses
Claims and change in insurance liabilities

Total operating expenses
Profit before tax
Tax expense
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Segments assets

Financial investments

Total assets
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Segment information (continued)
							
(a)
Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2007

Insurance
Underwriting

Intermediary,
Advisory and
Other

Total

£000

£000

£000

16,334

-

16,334

-

-

0

Segments liabilities
Insurance contract provisions
Financial liabilities
Financial lease obligations

-

218

218

1,727

(17)

1,710

Current tax liabilities

-

859

859

Accruals and deferred income

-

7,508

7,508

Other liabilities

515

11,828

12,343

Total liabilities

18,576

20,396

38,972

Deferred tax liabilities

Fixed asset additions, depreciation and amortisation charges relate to Intermediary, Advisory and Other operations and are
disclosed in notes 18 and 19.

(b)

Secondary segment information - geographical analysis

All of the AP Group’s revenues, costs, assets and liabilities are derived from providing its services in the United Kingdom.

Abbey Protection plc
Annual report 2008

49

Financial statements and notes

Notes to the financial statements
6

Net insurance premium
2008

2007

£000

£000

12,365

11,945

-

(321)

12,365

11,624

(326)

(560)

-

(143)

(326)

(703)

12,039

10,921

2008

2007

£000

£000

Income from intermediation

7,706

7,158

Advisory fees

3,968

3,820

Gross premiums written
Outward reinsurance premiums
Net premiums written
Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums
Change in the provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers’ share
Change in the net provision for unearned premiums
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance

7

Intermediary, advisory and other income

Other income
Total intermediary, advisory and other income

4,620

3,825

16,294

14,803

2008

2007

£000

£000

1,310

1,092

542

502

1,852

1,594

Other income comprises consultancy, claims handling and management services.

8

Net investment return

Investment at fair value through Income statement:
- certificates of deposit
Other investments:
-cash and cash equivalents income
Interest investment income
Net gains on investments at fair value through the income statement
Net investment return

9

66

31

1,918

1,625

2008

2007

£000

£000

(7,395)

(5,795)

(300)

(1,822)

(7,695)

(7,617)

Claims and change in insurance liabilities

Gross claims paid
Gross change in the provision for claims
Claims and change in insurance liabilities

A whole account stop loss reinsurance policy was in force until 31 December 2007 when it was commuted. No claims have
been made under the policy.
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Acquisition costs

Commission payable
Changes in deferred acquisition costs
Total acquisition costs

11

2008

2007

£000

£000

(1,131)

(717)

20

34

(1,111)

(683)

Profit before tax

Other operating and administrative expenses and operating profit have been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2008

2007

£000

£000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

272

235

Amortisation of intangible assets

137

80

Personnel expenses
- wages and salaries

7,564

6,939

- social security costs

865

749

- pension costs

285

256

Operating lease rentals

477

464

- fees for statutory audit services

20

17

- fees for auditing accounts of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

80

80

- other services pursuant to legislation

-

25

- tax services

-

5

Share based payment charges

155

8

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment

(21)

(8)

Auditors’ remuneration:

Deloitte LLP (formerly Deloitte & Touche LLP) acted as auditors to the Group during the current and previous financial years.
In addition to the fees payable noted above, the auditors also earned fees of £nil (2007: £365,000 exclusive of VAT) in relation
to the issuance of share capital which have been deducted from the share premium reserve (note 31).
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Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees employed by the Group (including executive directors) during the period,
analysed by category was:
2008

2007

No.

No.

Central

16

16

Tax protection & consultancy

56

48

7

6

Abbey legal protection

26

26

ATE services

18

21

Legal services centre

83

79

206

196

2008

2007

£000

£000

7,564

6,939

865

749

Abbey HR

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs - defined contribution plans

13

285

256

8,714

7,944

2008

2007

£000

£000

657

101

27

4

Directors' remuneration

Directors’ emoluments
Post-employment benefits - defined contribution plans
Compensation for loss of office

9

-

693

105

198

30

9

2

207

32

Three directors (2007: three directors) are members of defined contribution plans.
Highest paid director
-emoluments
-post employment benefit - defined contribution plans

As stated within the general information disclosed in note 1, Abbey Protection plc acquired Abbey Protection Group Limited
on 19 November 2007. The transaction has been accounted for using the reverse acquisition principles outlined in IFRS3
business combinations. Directors' emoluments for the comparative period represent emoluments for the period 1 November
2007 to 31 December 2007.
Full details of directors’ emoluments are disclosed within the remuneration report.
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Tax expense

Recognised in the income statement
2008

2007

£000

£000

2,098

1,740

(61)

(5)

2,037

1,735

Current tax expense
Current year – operations
Adjustments for prior years
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Total tax expense

190

277

2,227

2,012

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Tax on the AP Group’s profit before tax differs from the United Kingdom standard rate of corporation tax for the reasons set
out in the following reconciliation:
2008

2007

£000

£000

Profit before tax

8,267

7,339

Income tax calculated at the UK standard rate of tax of 28.5% (2007: 30%)

2,356

2,202

65

48

(130)

(111)

Factors affecting charge for the year:
Non deductible expenses and provisions
Income taxable on remittance to the UK
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods
Changes in the rate of corporation tax
Total tax expense

(61)

(5)

(3)

(122)

2,227

2,012

2008

2007

£000

£000

(1,710)

(1,433)

Reconciliation of deferred tax balances

Balance brought forward
Transferred on acquisition

(11)

-

Deferred tax on purchase of other intangible assets

(555)

-

Transfer to profit & loss account

(190)

(277)

(2,466)

(1,710)

Balance carried forward
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Dividends
2008

2007

£000

£000

1,488

6,250

-

(15)

1,488

6,235

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Dividends on ordinary shares
Fixed cumulative 6% irredeemable preference share dividend
Net appropriation for the year

As stated within the general information disclosed in note 1, Abbey Protection plc acquired Abbey Protection Group Limited
on 19 November 2007. The transaction has been accounted for using the reverse acquisition principles outlined in IFRS3
business combinations. The number of shares presented in the equity structure of the Group for the year ended 2007 relate
to Abbey Protection plc, the legal Parent Company.
On 29 October 2008 a dividend of £1,488,000 (net of £12,000 receivable by a group ESOP trust) was paid representing 1.5
pence per Abbey Protection plc share.
A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of £2,000,000 representing 2.0 pence per share is proposed. This
proposed dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a
liability in these financial statements.

16

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Group and held as
treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated adjusting for the assumed conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares, share options. For the share options, a calculation
is made to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual
market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would have been
issued assuming the exercise of the share options. The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on
the following data:

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares (share options)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings
per share

2008

2007

£000

£000

6,040

5,327

-

-

6,040

5,327

2008

2007

No. of shares

No. of shares

99,231,375

90,937,477

894,278

674,317

100,125,653

91,611,794

The denominators for the purposes of calculating both basic and diluted earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect
the changes to share capital disclosed in note 30.
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Goodwill
2008

2007

£000

£000

At beginning of the year

1,028

1,028

Acquisitions

4,110

-

At the end of the year

5,138

1,028

Cost

The AP Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired. There has been no impairment throughout the periods presented.
18

Other intangibles assets
Computer
software

Brands

Customer
relationships

Total

2008

2008

2008

2008

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cost
At 1 January 2008

498

-

-

498

-

384

1,599

1,983

40

-

-

40

-

-

-

-

538

384

1,599

2,521

At 1 January 2008

308

-

-

308

Charge for the year

87

4

46

137

-

-

-

-

At 31 December 2008

395

4

46

445

Net book value at 31 December 2008

143

380

1,553

2,076

2007

2007

2007

2007

£000

£000

£000

£000

454

-

-

454

75

-

-

75

Disposals

(31)

-

-

(31)

At 31 December 2007

498

-

-

498

At 1 January 2007

259

-

-

259

Charge for the year

80

-

-

80

Disposals

(31)

-

-

(31)

At 31 December 2007

308

-

-

308

Net book value at 31 December 2007

190

-

-

190

Transfer on acquisition of subsidiary
Acquisitions
Disposals
At 31 December 2008
Amortisation

Disposals

Cost
At 1 January 2007
Acquisitions

Amortisation
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Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
Land

Freehold
property

Leasehold
property

Equipment
and motor
vehicles

IT
equipment

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

-

99

827

326

1,252

335

750

15

63

55

1,218

Cost
At 1 January 2008
Transfer on acquisition of subsidiary
Acquisitions

-

-

-

75

126

201

Disposals

-

-

-

(86)

(4)

(90)

335

750

114

879

503

2,581

At 31 December 2008
Depreciation
At 1 January 2008

-

-

44

418

216

678

Charge for the year

-

4

1

179

88

272

Disposals

-

-

-

(65)

(3)

(68)

At 31 December 2008

-

4

45

532

301

882

335

746

69

347

202

1,699

Freehold
Land

Freehold
property

Leasehold
property

Equipment
and motor
vehicles

IT
equipment

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

At 1 January 2007

-

-

90

896

290

1,276

Acquisitions

-

-

9

77

60

146

Disposals

-

-

-

(146)

(24)

(170)

At 31 December 2007

-

-

99

827

326

1,252

Net book value at 31 December 2008

Cost

Depreciation
At 1 January 2007

-

-

31

394

180

605

Charge for the year

-

-

13

162

60

235

Disposals

-

-

-

(138)

(24)

(162)

At 31 December 2007

-

-

44

418

216

678

Net book value at 31 December 2007

-

-

55

409

110

574

Included within net book value of motor vehicles is £173,000 (2007: £188,000) in respect of assets held under finance
leases.
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Acquisition of subsidiary

On 21 October 2008, the Group acquired 100 percent of the issued share capital of Accountax Consulting Limited and
Accountax Law limited for cash consideration of £5.9 million. Accountax Consulting Limited is the Parent Company of a
group of companies involved in the provision of taxation consultancy services and tele-marketing. The transaction has been
accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.
Book Value

Fair Value

£000

£000

-

1,983

Net assets acquired
Other Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

1,218

1,218

Work in progress

153

153

Trade and other receivables

296

296

Cash and cash equivalents

283

283

(321)

(321)

Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Bank loans & overdrafts
Deferred tax

(101)

(101)

(1,150)

(1,150)

(12)

(567)

366
Goodwill

4,110

Total consideration

5,904

Satisfied by:
Cash
Directly attributable costs

4,723
81
4,804

Deferred consideration

1,100
5,904

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

4,804
(283)
4,521

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Accountax Consulting Limited is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
Group’s products in the new markets and the anticipated future operating synergies from the combination.
Given the proximity of the transaction to the Group’s year end and the seasonal nature of the acquiree's revenues, the
contribution to Group profits between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date was not material.
If the acquisition of Accountax Consulting Limited had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues
would have been £32.3m and pre-tax Group profit attributable to equity holders of the parent would have been £8.3m.
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Group companies

The consolidated financial statements present the financial records of the AP Group for the years ended 31 December 2008
and 31 December 2007. A list of all investments in AP Group subsidiaries, including the name and country of incorporation
is given below:

Company

Country of
incorporation

Activity

Portion of
ownership interests

Basis of
consolidation

Abbey Protection Group Ltd

Great Britain

Insurance
intermediary

100%

100%
Consolidation

Ibex Reinsurance Company
Limited

Guernsey

Reinsurance
company

100%

100%
Consolidation

Abbey Legal Holdings Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

100%
Consolidation

Abbey Legal Protection Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

100%
Consolidation

Abbey Tax Protection Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

100%
Consolidation

Accountax Consulting Limited

Great Britain

Tax consultancy

100%

100%
Consolidation

Accountax UK Limited

Great Britain

Tele-marketing

100%

100%
Consolidation

Accountax Law Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

100%
Consolidation

On 21 October 2008, AP plc subscribed for 300,000,000 ordinary 1 pence shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited at
par.
The AP Group has not suffered any impairment in the value of its investments in its subsidiaries. Following a Group restructuring
exercise in 2004, Abbey Legal Holdings Limited, Abbey Legal Protection Limited and Abbey Tax Protection Limited have
remained dormant. Accountax Law Limited and Accountax Consulting Limited together with its subsidiary, Accountax UK
Limited were acquired by Abbey Protection Group Limited on 21 October 2008. The business and assets of Accountax
Consulting Limited and Accountax UK Limited were hived up to Abbey Protection Group Limited on acquisition.

22

Financial investments

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss

Certificates of deposit

2008

2007

£000

£000

8,212

17,961

The fair values of the AP Group’s financial investments have been arrived at by reference to readily available market prices.
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Insurance contract provisions and reinsurance assets

(i) Insurance contract provisions
2008

2007

Gross Reinsurance

Net

Gross Reinsurance

Net

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Unearned premiums

6,857

-

6,857

6,531

-

6,531

Claims reported by policyholders

5,776

-

5,776

6,395

-

6,395

Claims incurred but not reported

4,327

-

4,327

3,408

-

3,408

Total insurance contract provisions

16,960

-

16,960

16,334

-

16,334

Expected to be settled within 12 months
of the balance sheet date

12,709

-

12,709

13,131

-

13,131

Expected to be settled more than 12
months after the balance sheet date

4,251

-

4,251

3,203

-

3,203

16,960

-

16,960

16,334

-

16,334

Gross Reinsurance

Net

(ii) Analysis of movements in insurance provisions
2008

2007

Gross Reinsurance

Net

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Balance at the beginning of the period

16,334

-

16,334

13,952

(143)

13,809

Claims paid

(7,395)

-

(7,395)

(5,795)

-

(5,795)

919

-

919

878

-

878

6,776

-

6,776

6,739

-

6,739

326

-

326

560

143

703

16,960

-

16,960

16,334

-

16,334

2008

2007

Movement in claims incurred but not
reported
Claims reported in the period
Change in provision for unearned
premiums
Balance at the end of the period

(iii) Analysis of movements in provision for gross unearned premiums

Balance at the beginning of the period
Premiums written during the period
Less: premiums earned during the year
Balance at the end of the period

£000

£000

6,531

5,971

12,365

11,945

(12,039)

(11,385)

6,857

6,531

2008

2007

£000

£000

(iv) Analysis of movements in outstanding claims (gross & net)

Balance at the beginning of the period

9,803

7,981

Cash paid for claims settled in the year

(7,395)

(5,795)

- arising from current year claims

2,989

2,680

- arising from prior year claims

4,706

4,937

10,103

9,803

Change in liabilities:

Balance at the end of the period
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Insurance contract provisions and reinsurance assets (continued)						
													
(v) Assumptions and sensitivities
										
Process used to determine the assumptions										
The sources of data used as inputs for the assumptions behind insurance provisions are internal, using detailed studies that
are carried out annually by external advisors. The assumptions are checked to ensure that they are consistent with observable
market trends or other published information with more emphasis placed on current trends.					
						
The nature of insurance business makes it very difficult to predict with certainty the likely outcome of any particular claim and
the ultimate cost of notified claims. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate, case by case basis with due regard to
the claim circumstances and historical evidence of the size of similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are
updated as and when new information arises. The provisions are based on information currently available. However, the
ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments. The impact of many of the items affecting the ultimate
costs of the loss is difficult to estimate. The degree of complexity involved will also differ by book of business due to differences
in the underlying insurance contract, claim complexity, the volume of claims and the individual severity of claims, determining
the occurrence date of a claim, and reporting lags. 									
		
The value of outstanding claims and the IBNR provisions are estimated using various statistical methods. Such methods
extrapolate the development of paid and incurred claims, average cost per claim and ultimate claim numbers for each
underwriting year based upon observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. 				
							
The key methods, which remain unchanged from prior years, are:							
				
• chain ladder methods, which use historical data to estimate the paid and incurred to date proportions of the ultimate claim
cost;
• expected loss ratio methods, which use the AP Group’s expectation of the loss ratio for a class of business; and
• benchmarking methods, which use the experience of comparable, more mature, classes to estimate the cost of claims.
										
The actual method or blend of methods used varies by underwriting year being considered and for observed historical claims
development.											
											
To the extent that these methods use historical claims development information they assume that the historical claims
development pattern will occur again in the future. There are reasons why this may not be the case, which, in so far as they
can be identified, have been allowed for by modifying the methods. Such reasons include:					
						
• changes in processes that affect the development / recording of claims paid and incurred (such as changes in claim
reserving procedures);					
• economic, legal, political and social trends (resulting in, for example, a difference in expected levels of inflation);
• changes in mix of business; and										
• random fluctuations, including the impact of large losses.								
IBNR provisions are estimated at a gross level and a separate calculation is carried out to estimate the size of any reinsurance
recoveries. 											
											
Assumptions											
The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the measurement of insurance contract provisions are the expected loss
ratios for the most recent underwriting years excluding the current underwriting year which will be significantly underdeveloped.
The expected loss ratios assumed for the underwriting years 2006 and 2007 are 68.5% and 72.5% respectively. 		
Changes in assumptions and sensitivities to changes in key variables							
The Group believes that the liability for claims reported in the balance sheet is adequate. However, it recognises that the
process of estimation is based upon certain variables and assumptions, which could differ when claims arise. 			
The impact of a 1% change in the loss ratio across all underwriting years (2003 to 2008) would equate to a £529,000 pre-tax
change in the reported income.
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Deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax
Deferred tax balances are attributable to the following:

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Income taxable on remittance to the UK

2008

2007

£000

£000

(541)

-

38

12

(2,060)

(1,727)

Transfers to equity settled share incentive reserve

46

Other timing differences

51

5

(2,466)

(1,710)

Total deferred tax

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:
2008

2007

£000

£000

(2,601)

(1,727)

135

17

(2,466)

(1,710)

2008

2007

£000

£000

4,226

3,997

11,731

10,342

- other prepayments and accrued income

997

1,041

- amounts due from related parties

924

985

- other debtors

798

1,575

Total insurance and other receivables

18,676

17,940

Due within one year

18,676

17,940

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets or liabilities.

25

Trade and other receivables

Receivables arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts:
- premiums due from insurers
- trade debtors
Other receivables:
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Cash and cash equivalents
2008

2007

£000

£000

Cash at bank and in hand

25,419

15,940

Cash and cash equivalents

25,419

15,940

The effective interest rate on short term bank deposits was:

5.76%

5.29%

Included in cash and cash equivalents held by the AP Group as at each period end are balances totalling £2.1m not available
for use by the AP Group. Of this amount, £1m is held in trust to guarantee claims liabilities and £1.1m is held in escrow to
guarantee deferred acquisition consideration.
27

Financial liabilities
2008

2007

£000

£000

Deferred purchase consideration

1,100

-

Total financial liabilities

1,100

-

2008

2007

£000

£000

Accruals

1,507

1,138

Deferred income

6,602

6,370

Total accruals and deferred income

8,109

7,508

2008

2007

£000

£000

11,123

11,751

564

419

Expected to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date

Deferred purchase consideration is expected to be settled by 31 March 2010
28

29

Accruals and deferred income

Trade and other payables

Other trade payables
Other taxes and social security
Other payables
Total trade and other payables

229

173

11,916

12,343

Trade and other payables are all expected to be settled within twelve months of the balance sheet date.
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Share capital

a) Authorised share capital
2008
Number of
shares

2007
Nominal
value

Number of
shares

£000
Ordinary shares of 1p each

Nominal
value
£000

150,000,000

1,500

150,000,000

1,500

150,000,000

1,500

150,000,000

1,500

b) Issued share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid
2008
Number of
shares

2007
Nominal
value

Number of
shares

£000
Ordinary shares of 1p each

Nominal
value
£000

99,994,773

1,000

99,994,773

1,000

99,994,773

1,000

99,994,773

1,000

c) Changes in Group share capital
Prior to the execution of the share for share agreement facilitating the acquisition of Abbey Protection Group Limited by
Abbey Protection plc, the following changes were made to share capital:

On 24 August 2007, the Company issued 1 £1 subscriber share.
On 14 November 2007, the Company issued 49,999 £1 redeemable ordinary shares.
On 19 November 2007, the Company issued 90,903,764 ordinary shares of 1p each under the share for share exchange
agreement.
On 19 November 2007, the Company subdivided the £1 subscriber share into 100 ordinary shares of 1p each and redeemed
the 49,999 £1 redeemable ordinary shares at their nominal value.
On 29 November 2007, the Company issued 9,090,909 ordinary shares of 1p each at 55p per share.
d) Treasury shares
On 10 April 2007, the Group purchased 3,005 ordinary “A” shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited via an ESOP trust.
2,815 of these shares were then sold to members of the senior management at the acquisition price.
On 31 October 2007, 252,000 irredeemable preference shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited held by the Group via the
ESOP trust were converted into 413 ordinary “C” shares of £610 each.
On 19 November 2007, the ESOP trust exchanged its holdings in Abbey Protection Group Limited for 763,398 ordinary
shares of 1p each in Abbey Protection plc.
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Share premium

Group

At the beginning of the period

2008

2007

£000

£000

3,539

224

Premium on shares issued

-

3,539

Transfer to reverse takeover reserve

-

(224)

3,539

3,539

At the end of the period
The premium on shares issued during 2007 is shown net of transaction costs of £1,370,000.
32

Retained earnings and other reserves
Equity
Capital
settled share
redemption
incentive
Reserve
reserve

Merger
reserve

Balance at 1 January 2007
Reverse takeover reserve

Reverse
takeover
reserve

Own
Shares

Retained
earnings
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

282

-

-

-

(230)

-

Equity settled share incentive reserve

Total
£000

10,850 10,902

-

-

188

-

-

188

8

-

-

-

-

8

Reserve transfers

-

-

557

-

-

(557)

-

Preference dividend paid

-

-

-

-

-

15

15

Ordinary dividend paid

-

-

-

-

-

(6,250)

(6,250)

Purchase of own shares

-

-

-

-

(1,068)

-

(1,068)

Sale of own shares

-

-

-

-

1,000

-

1,000

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

5,327

5,327

282

8

557

188

(298)

Equity settled share incentive reserve

-

155

-

-

-

-

155

Ordinary dividend paid

-

-

-

-

-

(1,488)

(1,488)

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

6,040

6,040

282

163

557

188

(298)

Balance at 31 December 2007

Balance at 31 December 2008
33

9,385 10,122

13,937 14,829

Share option schemes

The directors believe that equity incentives are and will continue to be an important means of retaining, attracting and
motivating employees. The AP Group operates three share options schemes:
a) The Abbey Protection plc Savings Related Share Option Scheme (SAYE Scheme)
The SAYE Scheme is approved by HMRC. The scheme enables directors and employees to acquire options over ordinary
shares of the Company at a discount of up to 20% of their market price using the proceeds of a related SAYE contract. All
employees who have worked for the minimum qualifying period on an invitation date are eligible to join the scheme. Options
granted under the SAYE scheme are not subject to performance conditions but beneficiaries must ordinarily be employees of
the Group for the options to vest. In relation to such invitations, eligible employees may apply to save an amount between £5
and £250 per month in accordance with the rules of the SAYE Scheme under a three or five year savings contract selected
by the Company.
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Share option schemes (continued)										

b) The Abbey Protection plc Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)							
				
The CSOP is approved by HMRC. The scheme enables directors and employees to acquire options over ordinary shares of
the Company at their market price. Individuals are selected at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Options granted
under the scheme are not subject to performance conditions but beneficiaries must ordinarily be employees of the Group for
the options to vest. Each individual’s participation in the CSOP is restricted by HMRC limits so that the aggregate market value
of Ordinary Shares subject to all options (calculated at the date of grant of each option), held by that individual and granted
under the CSOP or any other HMRC company share option plan operated by the Company or any associated company shall
not exceed £30,000. 											
											
c) The Abbey Protection plc Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)								
			
The LTIP is not approved by HMRC. The scheme enables directors and employees to acquire nil cost options over ordinary
shares of the Company. Individuals are selected at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Awards are capped at a
maximum of twice the annual salary of any individual in any financial year. Ordinarily, in order for options to vest, the individual
must be an employee of the Group and the performance conditions must be met. 						
					
Performance conditions vary and where appropriate include individualised targets. Generally, the performance conditions
require that the average annual percentage growth in earnings per ordinary share over the performance period (not less than
three years) is equal to or greater than the annual average percentage growth in the retail price index (RPI) plus 3 per cent for
25 per cent of the award to vest. Earnings per share must outperform RPI by 6 percent for 100% of options to vest with a
pro-rata scale operated between 3 percent out performance and 6 percent out performance. If events occur which cause the
Remuneration Committee to reasonably consider that a different or amended target would be a fairer measure of performance,
the Remuneration Committee may recommend that the Trustee waives or amends the original performance target, provided
that any such amended target is not materially more difficult to achieve than the original performance target.
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Share option schemes (continued)									

Options granted
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the following options were granted or were outstanding at the balance sheet
date:
SAYE

SAYE

20/12/2007

24/07/2008

980,039

76,454

381,815

30,000

363,636

150,000

Exercise price

£0.44

£0.536

£0.55

£0.67

£0.00

£0.00

Share price at date of grant

£0.61

£0.67

£0.55

£0.67

£0.55

£0.67

10

10

10

Date of grant
Number of options granted

Contractual life (years)
Vesting conditions:

Vesting Date
Settlement
Expected volatility

CSOP

3.5

3.5

Three Years
service

Three Years
service

CSOP

LTIP

29/11/2007 27/06/2008 29/11/2007

Three Years Three Years Three Years
service
service
service
Growth in
earnings
per share

LTIP
27/06/2008

10
Three Years
service
Growth in
earnings per
share and
performance
conditions

Savings
requirement

Savings
requirement

01/01/2011

01/09/2011

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

35%

35%

35%

35%

35%

35%

Expected option life at date of grant Three Years

Three Years

-

-

30/11/2010 30/06/2011 01/01/2011

Three Years Three Years Three Years

30/06/2011

Three Years

Risk free interest rate

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

Expected dividend yield

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

Expected annual departures

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Probability of meeting performance
criteria at date of grant

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

75%

Fair value per option at date of
grant

£0.20

£0.197

£0.20

£0.20

£0.52

£0.58

Valuation model

Binomial

Binomial

Binomial

Binomial

Binomial

Binomial

Total fair value

£168,052

£12,887

£65,799

£6,120

£190,182

£64,913

34

Operating leases

The aggregate minimum lease payments required by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases, over the expected
lease terms, are as follows:

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
Total

2008

2007

£000

£000

462

461

1,371

1,732

89

89

1,922

2,282

The AP Group’s property leases are short leases and typically run for a period of less than ten years without the transfer of
substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the properties. As a result these property leases are treated as
operating leases and there is no need to split out the land component.
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Related party transactions											

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disclosed in this note. The AP Group has a related party relationship with its key management personnel who are also
shareholders of the AP Group.											
Remuneration of directors											
											
The remuneration of the Directors, who are key management personnel of the Group is set out in note 13 of these financial
statements and disclosed in the remuneration report on pages 23 to 25.							
				
Share and loan transactions with members of key management							
				
On 30 April 2007, the Group made equity shares available to Adrian Green, Group Finance Director, on a deferred payment
basis via the ESOP trust. An amount of £500,178 was deferred under the purchase agreement. At the balance sheet date
an amount of £420,779 remains outstanding and is disclosed within other assets in the accounts of the ESOP trust and the
consolidated accounts. The deferred purchase loan is due for repayment ten years from the date the loan was granted.		
											
Transactions with post-employment benefit plans									
		
The Group leases a property owned by the pension funds of two of the Group’s directors, Colin Davison and Liz Grace. The
lease has been entered into on arm’s length commercial terms. The annual lease and service charges fees paid by the Group
for the property are £75,700 (excluding VAT) and £3,916 respectively.							
				
Other related parties											
											
Until 15 November 2007 when the agreement was terminated, an annual management fee of £29,375 inclusive of VAT was
paid to Numis Securities Limited for the services of the Group Chairman, Oliver A Hemsley, who is a director of Numis
Corporation plc which in turn held 20,698 Ordinary shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited.

36

Finance lease obligations
2008

2007

£000

£000

119

120

91

119

Minimum lease obligations payable:
Within 1 year
Within 2 to 5 years

210

239

Less future finance charges

(17)

(21)

Present value of finance lease obligations

193

218

109

107

84

111

193

218

The present value of minimum lease obligations payable:
Within 1 year
Within 2 to 5 years

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles under finance lease arrangements. The leases have a typical term
of three years and are on a fixed repayment basis with a final lump sum component at the end of each agreement should
the Group decide to acquire ownership of the vehicle. Interest rates are fixed at the contract commencement date. Finance
lease obligations are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. The
carrying value of finance obligations equates to fair value.
37

Capital commitments

The AP Group had no capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date.
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Contingent liabilities

Barclays Bank Plc has issued an irrevocable standby letter of credit in respect of Brit Insurance Limited for £1,000,000 in
connection with the insurance activities of Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited. This is secured on its bank balances and
has been in force throughout all reporting periods.
39

Capital management

Abbey Protection Group Limited
The AP Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AP Group will be able to continue as a going concern whilst
having regard to the implications of potential changes to the legislative arena and economic conditions generally.
The capital structure of the AP Group consists of ordinary shares, share premium account, merger reserve and profit and
loss reserves.
The AP Group Board reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review the AP Group Board considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on decisions made by the AP Group Board, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends. The AP Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged.
In January 2005 the Financial Services Authority assumed responsibility for the regulation of the insurance intermediation
industry. The Financial Services Authority requires Abbey Protection Group Limited to maintain a minimum level of capital
and reserves to enable Abbey Protection Group Limited to carry out its insurance intermediation activities. The amount of
capital and reserves held by Abbey Protection Group Limited in respect of the Financial Services Authority requirement is
set out below:
2008

2007

£000

£000

377

174

Available assets held by the Company

2,208

4,798

Available assets held by the Company in excess of the minimum capital
and reserves requirement

1,831

4,624

Minimum capital and reserve requirement

Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited
Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited (“Ibex”), the AP Group’s Guernsey based reinsurance subsidiary manages its capital to
ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern whilst having regard to the implications of potential changes to the
legislative arena and economic conditions generally.
The capital structure of Ibex consists of ordinary shares, share premium account and profit and loss reserves.
The Ibex Board reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review the Ibex Board considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with its class of capital. It also takes into account the requirements for controlled foreign
companies to remit profits to the United Kingdom under an approved distribution policy. Based on the recommendations
of the Ibex Board, Ibex will seek to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends. The Ibex overall
strategy remains unchanged.
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Capital management (continued)

Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited is required to maintain a minimum level of capital and reserves by the Guernsey Financial
Services Commission. The amount of capital and reserves held by Ibex in respect of the GFSC requirements is set out
below:

Minimum capital and reserves requirement

2008

2007

£000

£000

1,847

1,738

Available assets held by the Company

12,877

11,233

Available assets held by the Company in excess of the minimum
capital and reserves requirement

11,030

9,495
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At 31 December 2008
Notes

2008

2007

£000

£000

Assets
Investment in subsidiaries

41

4,072

909

Trade and other receivables

42

3,311

871

Cash and cash equivalents

43

1,059

3,328

8,442

5,108

72

11

72

11

Total assets
Liabilities
Trade and other creditors

44

Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital

30

1,000

1,000

Share premium

45

3,539

3,539

Retained earnings

45

3,618

500

Capital redemption reserve

45

50

50

Equity settled share incentive reserve

45

163

8

8,370

5,097

Total shareholders’ equity

The financial statements on pages 29 to 73 were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 March
2009. They were signed on its behalf by:
Colin Davison
Group Chief Executive

Chris Ward
Group Managing Director
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Parent company cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008
2008

2007

£

£

2,057

(345)

182

35

2,239

(310)

Purchases of financial investments

(3,000)

(909)

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,000)

(909)

Notes

Cash generated by/(used in) operations

47

Interest received
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
Investing activities

Financing activities
Equity dividend paid

(1,500)

-

30&31

-

4,589

Redemption of share capital

30

-

(50)

Equity settled share incentive reserve

45

(8)

8

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

(1,508)

4,547

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(2,269)

3,328

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period

3,328

-

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

1,059

3,328

Issue of share capital

71
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Significant accounting policies										

Basis of preparation											
The separate financial statements for the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles. In accordance with the extension permitted under S230 of the Companies Act 1985, the income
statement of the Parent Company is not presented as part of these accounts. Advantage has been taken of the merger relief
provisions within S131 of the Companies Act 1985 in respect of the acquisition of Abbey Protection Group Limited. Accordingly,
the initial investment in Abbey Protection Group Limited has been recorded at the nominal value of the shares issued to acquire
the subsidiary. The profit after taxation for the year of the Parent Company was £4,618,000 (2007: £550,000).			
								
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.						
					
The accounting policies that are used in preparation of these financial statements are consistent with the accounting policies
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out in those financial statements. The
additional accounting policies which are specific to the separate financial statements of the Company are set out below:		
									
Investment in subsidiaries											
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost and in respect of Abbey Protection Group Limited, the nominal value
of the shares issued to acquire the subsidiary plus the cost of additional shares subscribed for during the year. Investments in
subsidiary undertakings are reviewed for impairment when events, or changes in circumstances, indicate the carrying value
may be impaired.
										
Dividend income											
Dividend income from investments in subsidiaries is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

41

Investment in subsidiaries

The principal undertakings of Abbey Protection plc at 31 December 2008 which are 100% consolidated in these financial
statements are:
Company

Country of
incorporation

Activity

Portion of ownership
interests

Abbey Protection Group Ltd

Great Britain

Insurance intermediary

100%

Ibex Reinsurance Company Limited

Guernsey

Reinsurance company

100%

Abbey Legal Holdings Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

Abbey Legal Protection Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

Abbey Tax Protection Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

Accountax Consulting Limited

Great Britain

Tax consultancy

100%

Accountax UK Limited

Great Britain

Tele-marketing

100%

Accountax Law Limited

Great Britain

Dormant

100%

On 21 October 2008, AP plc subscribed for 300,000,000 ordinary 1 pence shares in Abbey Protection Group Limited at
par.
The AP Group has not suffered any impairment in the value of its investments in its subsidiaries. Following a Group
restructuring in 2004, Abbey Legal Holdings Limited, Abbey Legal Protection Limited and Abbey Tax Protection Limited
have remained dormant. Accountax Law Limited and Accountax Consulting Limited together with its subsidiary, Accountax
UK Limited were acquired by Abbey Protection Group Limited on 21 October 2008. The business and assets of Accountax
Consulting Limited and Accountax UK Limited were hived up to Abbey Protection Group Limited on acquisition.
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Trade and other receivables					
2008

2007

£000

£000

Other debtors

1

-

21

8

3,289

863

3,311

871

Prepayments and accrued income
Amounts due from related parties

43

Cash and cash equivalents					
2008

2007

£000

£000

Cash at bank and in hand

1,059

3,328

Cash and cash equivalents

1,059

3,328

5.81%

5.37%

The effective interest rate on short term bank deposits was:

44
Trade and other creditors									
										

Corporation tax
Other taxes and social security
Accruals

2008

2007

£000

£000

15

-

3

-

54

11

72
11
										
45

Share premium, retained earnings and other reserves							
Share
Premium

Equity settled
share incentive
reserve

Capital
redemption
Reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Balance at 1 January 2007

-

-

-

-

-

Premium on shares issued

3,539

Equity settled share incentive reserve

3,539

-

8

-

Reserve transfers

-

-

50

(50)

0

Profit for the year

-

-

-

550

550

3,539

8

50

500

4,097

Equity settled share incentive reserve

-

155

-

-

155

Ordinary dividend paid

-

-

-

(1,500)

(1,500)

Profit for the year

-

-

-

4,618

4,618

3,539

163

50

3,618

7,370

Balance at 31 December 2007

Balance at 31 December 2008

-

8
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Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ equity					
						

Profit for the year
Issue of new shares

2008

2007

£000

£000

4,618

550

-

1,050

Redemption of shares

-

(50)

Share premium

-

3,539

155

8

(1,500)

-

3,273

5,097

Equity settled share incentive reserve
Ordinary dividend paid
Net addition to shareholders’ funds
Opening shareholders’ equity

5,097

-

Closing shareholders’ equity

8,370

5,097

47
Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities			
						

Profit for the financial year
Interest receivable
Increase in debtors
Increase in creditors
Cash generated by operations

48

2008

2007

£000

£000

4,618

550

(177)

(41)

(2,445)

(865)

61

11

2,057

(345)

Related party transactions

Details of related party transactions are provided in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
49

Share based payments

Details of share based payment plans are provided in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Shareholder information and advisers
The ordinary shares of Abbey Protection plc (Company No 06352358) are traded on the Alternative Investment Market of the
London Stock Exchange (AIM) and information on the share price and the Company can be accessed via the Company’s website,
www.abbeyprotectionplc.com or at www.londonstockexchange.com – code: ABB. The ISIN number is GB00B293ZK84 and
the SEDOL code is B293ZK8.
Company Secretary and registered office
Adrian Green, Abbey Protection plc, Minories House, 2-5 Minories, London, EC3N 1BJ.
Registrar
Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 7NH.
Computershare looks after the Shareholder database and is responsible for maintaining shareholder records and the mailing
out of related information. Computershare Investor Centre gives access to view your holdings online via their website www.
computershare.com. To register click on Investor Centre on the Computershare home page www.computershare.com and
follow the instructions. You will be able to:
View all your holding details for companies registered with Computershare
Update your contact address and personal details online
Access current and historical market prices
You may contact Computershare Investor Services PLC via the dedicated Shareholder helpline, 0870 707 1682.
Key dates
The annual general meeting will be held on 28 April 2009 at the Company’s offices, 1 Mitchell Court, Castle Mound Way,
Rugby, CV23 OUY.
26 March 2009 - preliminary results for the year ended 31 December 2008 announced
1 April 2009 - ex-dividend date for final dividend
3 April 2009 - record date for final dividend
30 April 2009 - final dividend payment
3 September 2009 - results for half year to 30 June 2009 announced
9 September 2009 - ex-dividend date for interim dividend
11 September 2009 - record date for interim dividend
7 October 2009 - interim dividend payment
Auditors
Deloitte LLP (formerly Deloitte & Touche LLP), Hill House, 1 Little New Street, London EC4A 3TR.
Nominated adviser
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH.
Broker
Numis Securities, 10 Paternoster Square, London EC4M 7LT.
Solicitors
Eversheds LLP, 115 Colmore Row, Birmingham. B3 3AL.
Bankers
Coutts & Co, 440 Strand, London. WC2R 0QS.
Public Relations
Financial Dynamics Limited, Holborn Gate, 26 Southampton Buildings, London WC2A 1PB.
Charity share donations
Sharegift, an independent charity share-donation scheme, accepts donations of small parcels of shares where their value
makes them uneconomic to sell. If you wish to donate your shares in this way, see www.sharegift.org (tel: 020 7337 0501) or
contact the Company’s Registrars.
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Notice of annual general meeting
Notice is hereby given that the second annual general meeting of Abbey Protection plc will be held at the offices of Abbey
Protection plc, 1 Mitchell Court, Castle Mound Way, Rugby, CV23 OUY at 11am on 28 April 2009.
Resolutions
To consider and, if thought fit, pass resolutions 1 to 7 as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 8 and 9 as special resolutions.
The directors consider that all the resolutions of the annual general meeting are in the best interests of the Company and
recommend that shareholders vote in favour of them.

Ordinary business
1
To receive the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008, together with the reports of the directors
and auditors thereon.
The directors are required to present the Directors’ report and the accounts of the Company for adoption by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company. Accordingly, resolution 1 presents the accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2008 and proposes the accounts for adoption.
2

To declare a final dividend of 2.0 pence per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2008, payable to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members at the close of business on 3 April 2009.

Shareholder approval is required for the payment of a final dividend as recommended by the Board of directors. Subject
to shareholder approval this dividend will be paid on 30 April 2009.
3

To re-elect Paul Wilson as a director of the Company.

4

To re-elect Adrian Green as a director of the Company.

Under Article 111 of the Company’s articles of association each director is required to retire and offer themselves for reelection at the third annual general meeting after the annual general meeting at which he was last elected subject to at
least one third of directors retiring and offering themselves for re-election. Profiles for each of the directors standing for
re-election are set out on page 15.
5

To re-appoint Deloitte LLP (formerly Deloitte & Touche LLP) as auditors of the Company to hold office until the 		
conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

6

To authorise the directors to set the remuneration of the auditors of the Company.

The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for re-appointment at each annual general meeting at which accounts are
presented. Accordingly, the directors propose the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as the Company’s auditors. Resolution
6 authorises the directors to agree the remuneration of Deloitte LLP for their services as auditors.
Special business
To consider, and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions of which resolution 7 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution
and resolutions 8 and 9 will be proposed as special resolutions:
Ordinary resolutions
7 (i)
and
unconditionally
authorised
for for
the the
purposes
of section
80 of80
theof
That the directors
directors be
beand
andare
arehereby
herebygenerally
generally
and
unconditionally
authorised
purposes
of section
Companies
Act Act
1985
(the (the
“Act”)
and and
in accordance
with with
Article
16 of16
theofCompany’s
articles
of association,
		 to
the
Companies
1985
“Act”)
in accordance
Article
the Company’s
articles
of association,
to exercise
all the
powers
of the
Company
to allot
relevant
securities
(within
meaning
of section
80(2)
of the
exercise
all the
powers
of the
Company
to allot
relevant
securities
(within
thethe
meaning
of section
80(2)
of the
Act)Act)
up
upan
to aggregate
an aggregate
nominal
amount
of £327,464
(being
33%
of the
issued
share
capital
(excluding
treasury
shares)
to
nominal
amount
of £327,464
(being
33%
of the
issued
share
capital
(excluding
treasury
shares)
of
of the
Company
March
2009,
latest
practicable
date
before
publicationofofthis
thisnotice)
notice)provided
providedthat
thatsuch
the
Company
as as
at at
2626
March
2009,
thethe
latest
practicable
date
before
publication
such authority
shall expire
the conclusion
the Company’s
annual
general
meeting
toheld
be held
in 2010
or on
authority
shall expire
at theatconclusion
of theofCompany’s
annual
general
meeting
to be
in 2010
or on
28 28
July
July 2010,
whichever
is earlier,
thatCompany
the Company
may before
any or
offer
or agreement
2010,
whichever
is earlier,
save save
that the
may before
such such
expiryexpiry
makemake
any offer
agreement
whichwhich
would
would
or require
might require
relevant
securities
to be allotted
after expiry
such expiry
anddirectors
the directors
may relevant
allot relevant
		 in
or
might
relevant
securities
to be allotted
after such
and the
may allot
securities
securities inofpursuance
of agreement
any offer or as
agreement
as if the
authorityhereby
conferred
had not
expired.
Thisshall
authority
pursuance
any offer or
if the authority
conferred
hadhereby
not expired.
This
authority
be in
shall be in substitution
forreplace
and shall
existingpursuant
authoritytopursuant
to section
80 of
to not
the utilised
extent at
substitution
for and shall
anyreplace
existingany
authority
section 80
of the Act,
to the
the Act,
extent
not date
utilised
the date this
resolution is passed.
the
thisatresolution
is passed.
and further
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7

(ii)

(That
generally
andand
unconditionally
authorised
to exercise
all theallpowers
of 		
That the
the directors
directorsbe
beand
andare
arehereby
hereby
generally
unconditionally
authorised
to exercise
the powers
of the
the
Company
to allot
relevant
securities
(within
meaning
of section
of the
in connection
with
a 		
Company
to allot
relevant
securities
(within
thethe
meaning
of section
94 94
of the
Act)Act)
in connection
with
a rights
issue in
rights
in favour
of ordinary shareholders
where securities
the relevant
securities attributable
respectively to
attributable
to the
		
favourissue
of ordinary
shareholders
where the relevant
respectively
the interests
of all
ordinary
interests
of all are
ordinary
shareholders
are proportionate
(asthe
nearly
as maynumbers
be) to theofrespective
numbers
		
shareholders
proportionate
(as nearly
as may be) to
respective
ordinary shares
heldofby
them up
ordinary
shares held
by them
up toofan£327,464
aggregate
nominal
£327,464
of the 			
to an aggregate
nominal
amount
(being
33%amount
of the of
issued
share (being
capital33%
(excluding
treasury shares) of
issued
share capital
shares)
the Company
at 26publication
March 2009,
			
the Company
as at (excluding
26 March treasury
2009, the
latest of
practicable
dateas
before
of the
this latest
notice)
provided that this
practicable
dateexpire
before
of this
notice)
that this
shall expire
28 an
			
authority shall
onpublication
28 April 2010,
save
that provided
the Company
mayauthority
before such
expiry on
make
offer or agreement
April
2010,
		
save
that the
Company
may
beforeafter
suchsuch
expiry
makeand
an the
offerdirectors
or agreement
		
which
would
or might require
relevant
securities
to be
allotted
expiry
may allot
relevant
which
would
or might require
		
relevantas
securities
to be allotted
after
such had
expiry
the
securities
in pursuance
of such
an offer or agreement
if the authority
conferred
hereby
notand
expired.

Under the Act, the directors may not allot unissued shares in the Company without the authority of shareholders in general
meeting, except for the issue of shares under the Company’s share or share option plans. The authorities contained in
resolution 7 would permit the directors to issue securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £327,464 on a non preemptive basis and issue securities up to a further aggregate nominal amount of £327,464 pursuant to a rights issue on a
pre-emptive basis, in accordance with ABI guidance.
Special resolutions
8
That in accordance with Article 17 of the Company’s articles of association, the directors be and are hereby 		
empowered pursuant to section 95(1) of the Act:
(a) subject to the passing of resolution 7 above, to allot equity securities (as defined in section 94(2) of the Act) for
cash pursuant to the general authority conferred by resolution 7 above as if section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to
any such allotment; and
(b) to sell relevant shares (as defined in section 94(5) of the Act) in the Company if, immediately before the sale such
shares are held by the Company as treasury shares (as defined in section 162A(3) of the Act) for cash (as defined in
section 162D(2) of the Act), as if section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such sale,
provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities and the sale of treasury shares:
(i) in connection with or pursuant to an offer by way of a rights, open offer or any other pre-emptive offer in favour of
ordinary shareholders who are entitled to participate therein in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to the respective
number of ordinary shares held by such holders but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors
may deem necessary or desirable in relation to fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems arising in, or
pursuant to, the laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory;
and
(ii) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £49,615,
and this power shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting to be held in 2010 or on
28 July 2010, whichever is earlier, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter into any
agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted or treasury shares to be sold, after such
expiry and the directors may allot equity securities or sell treasury shares in pursuance of such offer or agreement as
if the power conferred hereby had not expired. This authority shall be in substitution for and shall replace any existing
power pursuant to section 95(1) of the Act to the extent not utilised at the date this resolution is passed.
Resolution 8 empowers the directors to allot ordinary shares, otherwise than on a pre-emptive basis to existing shareholders
in connection with any future rights issue or grant rights over shares or sell treasury shares for cash, up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £49,615 (being approximately 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 26 March 2009,
the latest practicable date before publication of this notice). It is not intended that the Company will allot in this way more
than 7.5% of the issued share capital in any rolling three-year period.
The authorities in resolutions 7 and 8 will last for a period of one year each, in accordance with institutional guidelines.
The directors have no present intention of exercising these authorities. It is normal for boards of listed companies to have
these authorities in order to take advantage of market opportunities as they arise.
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9

That the Company
Company be
be and
and isishereby
herebygenerally
generallyand
andunconditionally
unconditionallyauthorised,
authorised,pursuant
pursuanttotoand
andin in
accordance
accordance
with
with
Article 9 of the Company’s
Company’s articles
articles of
of association
association and
andsection
section166
166ofofthe
theAct
Acttotomake
makemarket
marketpurchases
purchases(within
(withinthe
the
onon
such
terms
and
in such
manner
as the
meaning of section
section 163(3)
163(3) of
of the
theAct)
Act)ofofany
anyofofitsitsown
ownordinary
ordinaryshares
shares
such
terms
and
in such
manner
as the
directors may from time to time determine subject to the following:
(a) the maximum number of ordinary shares in the Company hereby authorised to be acquired is 9,923,137;
(b) the minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each such ordinary share is an amount equal to
the nominal value of each ordinary share;
(c) the maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each such ordinary share is an amount equal
to 105% of the average of the middle market quotations for the ordinary shares in the Company taken from the AIM
supplement of the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the
day on which such ordinary share is contracted to be purchased,
Provided that the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting
to be held in 2010 or on 28 July 2010, whichever is earlier, save that the Company may enter into a contract for the
purchase of ordinary shares before the expiry of this authority which would or might be completed wholly or partly
after its expiry.

Resolution 9 empowers the Company to purchase its own ordinary shares by market purchases not exceeding approximately
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 26 March 2009. The maximum and minimum prices are stated in the
resolution. The directors believe that it is advantageous for the Company to have this flexibility to make market purchases
of its own ordinary shares. In the event that ordinary shares are purchased, they would either be cancelled (and the
number of ordinary shares in issue would be reduced accordingly) or retained as treasury shares with a view to possible
re-sale at a future date. The Company would consider holding repurchased ordinary shares pursuant to the authority
conferred by this resolution as treasury shares. This would give the Company the ability to re-issue treasury shares quickly
and cost effectively and would provide the Company with additional flexibility in the management of its capital base.

By order of the board 				
Adrian Green					
Group Company Secretary 				
26 March 2009					
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Additional information

Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
Notes
1
Transfer
If you have sold or transferred all of your shares, you should pass this documentation and the form of proxy to the person
through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.
2
Appointment of proxies
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint a proxy or proxies (who need not be a
member of the Company) to attend and to vote instead of him or her. Forms of proxy must be returned so as to be received
by the Company’s registrars Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 7NH, not
later than 11.00am on Friday, 24 April 2009 (being 48 hours before the time of the meeting not including part of a non-working
day). Appointing a proxy will not preclude a member attending and voting in person at the meeting.
3
Right to attend and vote
Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that in order to have the
right to attend and vote at the meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating how many votes a person entitled to attend and
vote may cast) a person must be entered on the register of holders of the ordinary shares of the Company by not later than
6pm on 24 April 2009 (being not more than two business days before the time fixed for the meeting). Changes to entries on
the register after this time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting and the
number of shares on which they can vote.
4
Documents on display
Copies of the service agreements under which directors of the Company are employed and copies of the letters of appointment
of non-executive directors, are available for inspection at all times at the Company’s registered office during normal business
hours from the date of this notice until the date of the annual general meeting, and will be available for inspection at the place
of the annual general meeting for at least 15 minutes prior to and during the meeting.
5
Corporate representatives
In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so
that (i) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative with instructions
to vote on a poll in accordance with the directions of all of the other corporate representatives for that shareholder at the
meeting, then on a poll those corporate representatives will give voting directions to the Chairman and the Chairman will
vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance with those directions; and (ii) if more than one corporate
representative for the same corporate shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate shareholder has not appointed the
Chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative, a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those
corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and the other corporate representatives will give voting directions
to that designated corporate representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance issued by the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives - www.icsa.org.uk - for further details of
this procedure. The guidance includes a sample form of representation letter if the Chairman is being appointed as described
in (i) above. A letter in this form would be acceptable to the Company and its registrars.

Abbey Protection plc was incorporated in England and Wales (company registration number 06352358) and its main country of operation is the United Kingdom. Abbey Protection plc is the
ultimate holding company for Abbey Protection Group Limited, which is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority (firm reference: 308829) in respect of insurance mediation
activities only.

